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1.Analysis of the company’s activity  
 

1.1. a)Description of the main company activity. 

 

  Carbochim SA  (Joint – Stock Company) operates as a joint – stock company, in compliance 

with Law 31 / 1990, new edition, with subsequent amendments and additions, having as main 

activity ,, Production of abrasive products and their trading’’ according to NACE 2391. 

 

b)Year when the company was founded: 

 

 CARBOCHIM S.A. has been organized as a joint – stock company since 1991, through change - 

over of the former  I.I.S. CARBOCHIM and it has the registered office in ROMANIA, city of CLUJ 

– NAPOCA, Piata 1 Mai no.3. 

The company has been initially founded in 1949 for the manufacture of coal products, and, 

through successive investments the company’s scope of activity changed to the manufacture and 

trading of abrasive products: abrasive items with ceramic binder, abrasive items with resinoid 

binder,  abrasive items with elastic binder, mineral binder, abrasive disks for delivery and burr, 

paper support abrasives, cloth, combined support and vulcanized fiber. At the same time, the 

company’s range of services provides internal and external trading activities, provision of 

services regarding maintenance and repair of equipment, tenancy contracts.  
  

c) Description of any merger or significant reorganization of the trading company, branches, 

subsidiaries or controlled companies during the financial year. 
 

Not applicable. During the 2016 financial year the report has been drafted for, the company 

performed no merger or significant reorganization.  
 

d) Description of acquisitions and / or alienation of assets  

           
Assets purchasing:                      1.033.223  lei 

   

    -Land                                                         -  lei   

    -Buildings (acquisitions and improvements):        280.044  lei     

   -Technological Equipment:                                           552.551  lei 

   -Transportation means                                                                                   172.981  lei      

   -Furniture, office equipment, protection equipment                  18.460  lei          

   -IT license                 9.187  lei 

  

                                                                                                  

Fixed assets purchasing:                                                                   1.046.342  lei 

 

    - Land                                            184.351  lei   

    - Constructions (purchase and improvements):       861.991  lei     

 

                      Assets’ sale (transportation means):                                                128.007  lei 

 Sales of fixed assets:                                                 220.000  lei 

Assets’ cassation:           12.835  lei 
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e) Description of the main results of the trading company activity assessment. 

 

The second part of 2016 brought a decrease in the industrial demand which led to a decrease of 

abrasive products sales by about 1% compared to the previous year, with a negative influence on 

the results of our company’s activity.  

 

1.2. General elements of assessment: 

 

 

                       INDICATOR     2016/ lei 

  Net Profit 967.965 

  Turnover 31.457.243 

  Export or EU deliveries  1.032.457 

  Operational Revenues  32.623.758 

  Operational Expenses  31.332.723 

  % of held market (in Romania) 26% 

Liquidities (cash and cash equivalency on December 31st, 2016) 576.164 

 

 

1.3. Assessment of the trading company’s technical level. 

 

 

Description of main products and / or services as specified:  
 

 

The company Carbochim SA manufactures a wide range of abrasive products, such as:  

  - binder abrasive items: ceramic,  organic,  mineral and  elastic; 

  - disks for delivery and burr; 

  - paper support abrasive, cloth: endless tapes, rolls, sheets, plain disks, blade disks and so on.  

 

At the same time, the company is engaged in various collaboration contracts with other abrasive 

manufacturers in order to add to the range of products.  

 

 

a) Main markets for each product or service and methods of supply.  

 

 

The main market for our products is the domestic market and products’ supply is performed both 

directly by the company and through representation offices and authorized dealers. 

On the international market sales are made directly by the company.  

The company export mainly to: Poland, Belgium, Switzerland, Hungary, Germany and Czech 

Republic.   
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b) Market penetration of each category of products or services in the revenues and the 

aggregate turnover of the trading company for the last three years.  

 

 

CARBOCHIM 

PRODUCTS  
2014 2015 2016 

 % 

revenues 

%CA % 

revenues  

%CA % revenues % C.A. 

Abrasive Items   

58,07% 

 

55,08% 

 

58,54 

 

55,41 

 

57,96 

 

54,52 

Support 

Abrasive  

 

39,57% 

 

37,53% 

 

38,68 

 

36,61 

 

39,78 

 

37,42 

 

 

c) the new products that a substantial quantity of assets  shall be meant for in the future 

financial year, as well as the development stage of these products.  

 

Considering the great competition on the retail market and the reduced profitability, the company 

decided to develop abrasive products used in the automotive industry, bearings, metallurgy and 

others. Special products of high technology with last generation abrasives were assimilated fro 

these industries.  

 

1.4.  Assessment of the technical and material supply (indigenous sources, import sources). 

Determination of information regarding the safety of the supply sources, prices for raw 

materials as well as the volume of raw materials’ and materials’ stocks.  

 

 Main utilities, such as electricity and gas are purchased from the domestic market.  

A part of the basic raw materials are imported (China, Turkey, Korea, Germany, Italy, Hungary, 

Austria, Poland, Slovenia, Czech Republic, France). As a rule, there are at least two suppliers for 

each raw material.  
The raw materials stocks are generally within regular limits, except for the ones supplied from 

China or the ones with extended manufacture cycle, in such case a stock being formed for two or 

three months in order to avoid cessation of manufacture due to extended delivery terms.  

            

  Assessment of the Sale Activity. 

 

a) Description of sequential sales’ evolution on the domestic and / or international 

market and of the mid and long term sale perspectives. 

  

Goals for 2017 : 

 -increase of aggregate sales by a minimum 3% as opposed to 2016;  

 -increase of sales on the international market by at least 3% 

 -direction towards performance of our own supply system by efficiently using the 

resources within our working units - Ploiesti; Braila; Brasov; Bucharest. 

 

In 2016 the company’s activity has been performed in an fluctuant economic environment, the first 

trimester being promising, the second one disappointing, fact that led to the maintenance of the 

sales’ values almost to the same level as the previous year.  
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b) Description of the competitive situation in the activity area of the trading company, 

the, of the market penetration of the company’s products or services and of the main 

competitors.  

 

 Carbochim SA performs its activity in a stable competitive area where amendments 

emerge with regards to the component “price policy” promoted by the competitor companies. In 

this context, we believe that the situation at the level of 2017 shall have the same competitive 

profile with that of the previous years, and minor amendments that might occur shall not be a 

threat of the adopted marketing policy.  

 

c) Description of any significant dependency of the trading company towards one client or a 

group of clients, whose loss would negatively impact on the company’s revenues.  

 

Considering the company’s large of product, as well as the fact the company has many clients, 

there is no client who could affect the company’s activity from the revenues point of view. On the 

domestic market, there is an extended area of commercial partners who contribute to the 

company’s sales. Nonetheless, none of them has the potential to negatively influence the 

company’s performance, the client / product portfolio being balanced.  

 

1.6.  Assessment of aspects related to the company’s human resources.  

a) Specification of the number and level of professional training of the company’s employees 

and of the extent to which manpower relates to the idea of a union.  

 

The average number of employees in 2016 was 222.  
Over 46 % of the employees have been working in the company for more than 2-3 decades, fact 

the provides the company with vast and thorough experience in the manufacture and sale of 

abrasive products. 

The education level of the employees is as follows: 29% academic studies, 66 % high- school 

studies (high school, vocational schools), 5% general studies.  

It becomes harder every year to find professional staff for the marketing – sales activity as well as 

for the production activity. Following discussions with the Cluj School Inspectorate we tried to 

form a vocational school class for abrasive products’ operators, but our attempt failed.  

 

70% of the company’s employees have joined a union. 

 

 b) Description of the relations between management and employees as well as any disputes 

that characterize such relations.  

 
The relations between management and employees in 2016 did not include disputes and were 

professional. A Collective Labor Contract has been entered at company level and such contract is 

renegotiated every year.  

 

 1.7.  Assessment of aspects related to environmental impact on the company’s activity.  

 

The company holds all environment licenses and authorizations for the performed activity. There 

are no pending court actions and there is no prospect of such action due to breach of legislation 

regarding the environment protection. The company is certified according to ISO 9001:2008 and 

ISO 14001:2005, having an integrated quality – environment system.  
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During 2017 the integrated quality – environment system shall be attested according to ISO 

9001:2015 and ISO 14001:2015.  
 

  1.8. Assessment of the Research and Development Activity  

 

Research and development activity is directed towards:  

 - design and homologation of new products, especially the ones required by the 

industry; 

 - technological design and development required by the clients’ high quality and 

technical claims; 

 - technological improvement by assimilating available raw materials, considering the 

main objectives of the company, namely cost decrease, increase of products’ quality and meeting 

clients’ requirements.  

 

1.9. Assessment of company activity with regards to risk management.  

  
As any player on the competition market, the company is always exposed to price amendments 

regarding raw materials, gas, electricity as well as to local or global evolutions of prices for 

finished products, as well as to evolutions of the currency exchange rates.  

In 2016 as well, the company has been exposed to the following types of risks:  

 

- Currency risk. The company is exposed to the currency risk due to exposure to certain 

estimates, especially USD and EURO. The currency risk is associated to undertaken assets and 

liabilities, especially loans.  

The company does not make formal mitigation actions of the currency risk related to its 

operations; therefore, the Company fails to apply the accountability of protection against the risk. 
The impact of this risk on the profit and loss account in 2016 has been of +4.271 lei. 

The impact on the profit and loss account in the hypothesis of EURO value increase by 10% applied on the 

balance date, with all other variables being steady would be of -101.426 lei . 

The strong tendency of RON depreciation as reported to USD that has occurred during 2015 and 

continued in 2016 impacted on the profit and loss account of 2016, considering that a consistent part of 

the raw matters are supplied from China.  

 

- Risk of the interest rate. The company is exposed to the risk of interest rate through its long and 

short term loans, most of which have variable rates, related to the ROBOR index for the loans and 

to the EURIOBOR index for the loans in EURO. The company has interest bearing loan contracts 

with Unicredit Bank, Banca Comerciala Romana and with Raiffeisen Bank. On December 31st, 

2016, a possible increase of the interest rate by 1 % would impact on the revenues and expenses 

by -366 lei. 

 

-Risk of price that represents the risk that the value of a financial instrument might fluctuate due 

to change of prices on the market. A slight price increase has occurred in 2016, due to inflation 

and the Euro – USD exchange rate.  
 

-Risk of credit, is especially related to the cash flow and cash equivalent values and to the 

commercial receivables. The company has set a series of policies whose enforcement secure the 

company which sells products and services to reliable clients. The accounting value of the 

receivables, net for provisions of uncertain receivables, represents the maximum value exposed to 

the risk of loans.  
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The risk of credit of commercial receivables which are neither provisioned nor outstanding may 

be assessed through internal analyses, considering that there is no external information regarding 

the risk indicators for the clients.  

 

 

 -Risk of liquidities, 
The safe liquidities management involves maintaining enough cash and funds availability through 

a proper assessment of engaged credit facilities.  

Prospects regarding the treasury flow are made by the company’s financial department that 

monitors prospects regarding the company’s liquidities requirement, in order to make sure that 

there is enough cash to meet operational requirements, permanently maintaining, at the same time 

a sufficient margin for the unused loan facilities, in order for the company not to breach loan 

margins or the agreements related to loans for all loan facilities.      
 

1.10.  Perspective elements regarding the company’s activity. 

 

The main uncertainty element equally for 2017 that might affect the company’s liquidity compared 

to 2016 might be the extended payment terms of our clients due to the lack of liquidity on the 

market, as well as the influence of the Leu – Euro and Leu – USD exchange rates.   

 

1.11. Statement regarding Code of Corporate Governance. 

 

Carbochim SA has shares listed with the Bucharest Stock Exchange. Therefore, the company 

enforces all legal provisions in effect: Law 31 / 1990 updated, Order of the Ministry of Public 

Finance 2844/2016 for the approval of Accounting regulations according to International 

Financial Reporting Standards, Regulation CVNVM no. 1/2006 regarding reporting, Law 

297/2004 regarding the capital market, regulations of the Bucharest Stock Exchange and so on. 

All of the above are public documents.  

 

Up to the date of drafting of the herein report the Company did not adhere the Code of Corporate 

Governance issued by the Bucharest Stock Exchange in 2015. The company started all required 

actions in order to join such code. The Board of Directors shall analyze and decide on the 

conditions and influences regarding adherence to the Code of Corporate Governance.  

The stage of complying with the Bucharest Stock Exchange Code of Corporate Governance has 

been presented by the Company in the Current Report of January 22nd, 2016, report that may be 

found on the site www.carbochim.ro , in the section About us/ Shareholders/ Year 2016/ 

Miscellaneous 

 

The company’s accounting complies with the legislation in force and the company owns an 

integrated IT system.  

Financial reports are drafted in compliance with observing accounting policies legally adopted 

by the company and the legislation in force, which are checked and approved by the Economic 

Manager, the General Manager and the Board of Directors, if required.  

 

Considering that the company Carbochim SA should have been the object of a public procurement 

offer, as defined by the law with regards to the capital market, the company’s Board of Directors 

decided on April 27th, 2016 and November 29th, 2016  to suspend the performance of all rights 

related to movable assets held by the following shareholders identified as acting together and 

under article 203, paragraph(2) of Law 297/2004 and article 70 of CNVM Regulations no. 

1/2006 : SC Electroarges SA, Curtea de Arges  holder of  611.133 shares , SC Scop Line SA, 

http://www.carbochim.ro/
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Galati holder of 342.600 shares, SC Mattera Com SA , Galati  holder of 179.300 shares, SC 

Alfaline SA,  Galati holder of 145.000  shares, Marchis Corina-Andreea , Dej holder of 90.200  

shares and Gheorghe Ramona, Galati holder of 9.997 shares .  

 

Within Carbochim SA there is a system of internal control, and there are work procedures set for 

the main activities.  

The tasks of the internal control body are, without being limited to, the following:  

-to examine legality, regularity and conformity of operations;  

-to identify errors, waste, improper management and  to suggest measures and solutions to make 

up for the damage and to punish the guilty, as applicable; 

-to overview the operation of systems by planning decisions, scheduling, organization, 

coordination, follow up and control of decision fulfillment; 

-to assess efficiency and effectiveness by which the management and execution bodies of the 

company use financial, human and material resources in order to met the objectives and acquire 

results. 

 

The structure and operation manner of management and overview bodies is compliant with the 

legislation in force and the Company’s Articles of Incorporation. The General Meeting of 

Shareholders is the management body of the company that decides on its activity and sets the 

economic and commercial policy of the same. General Meetings are ordinary and extraordinary 

and their assignments are set by the Articles of Incorporation. The company is managed by a 

Board of Directors, composed of 5 directors that may also be shareholders, elected within the 

General Shareholders’ Assembly for a 4 year period, with possibility of reelection for the same 

amounts of time. On its first meeting the Board of Directors elects its members and a president. 

The president of the Board of Directors is the General Manager, pursuant to his / her mandate. 

The executives are appointed by the General Manager and subordinate to the same. The 

composition of the Management and Administration bodies is presented at point 4 of the report.  

 

The internal audit activity is externalized by a contract with the company Delta Consult SRL , 

Cluj – Napoca. 

Internal Audit directly subordinates to the Company Board of Directors.  

 

The company has a contact with a licensed financial auditor, in compliance with the legal 

provisions, and such auditor checks on the financial statements according to the legal provisions 

in force.  

 

The General Assembly is invested with the responsibilities provisioned by Law 31/1990, with 

subsequent amendments and by the Articles of Incorporation in force at the time the Meeting is 

held.  

 

Operation of the General Meeting of Shareholders and its assignments comply with the 

legislation in force and the company’s Memorandum of Association.  

 

Rights of the shareholders and their enforcement are provisioned by the applicable law.  

 

2. Company’s tangible assets  

 

2.1. Specification of the location and main features of the manufacture units within the 

company’s property.  
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The company’s manufacture units are located in Cluj – Napoca, P-ta 1 Mai, nr.3. 

 

 
 

The two manufacture units of Carbochim S.A. are: 

The Department of Abrasive Items with a capacity of 3000   t/year. 

The Department of Support Abrasives with a capacity of 4000  thousand square meters / year.   

 

2.2. Description and Analysis of the company’s property wear and tear.  

 

The average wear and tear is about 39%, considering that there are asses of 1965-1970, and of  

2000-2016. 

What is of importance is the fact that a large part of the properties (constructions) were built 

between 1973 and 1979 and they are in good shape. At the same time, all tools and installations 

are in good operation conditions and allow for a superior manufacture level.  

 

2.3. Specification of potential issues related to the ownership right over the company’s 

tangible assets.  

 

Not applicable. 

 

3. Market of movable assets issued by the company  
 

3.1. Specification of Romanian and foreign markets where movable assets issued by the 

company are negotiated.  

 

The company issues nominal shares, traded on the 2nd category of the Bucharest Stock Exchange.  

 

3.2. Description of company’s commercial policy with regards to dividends. Listing of 

earned / paid / accumulated dividends for the last 3 years, and, if applicable, of the reasons 

of dividends’ decrease during the last 3 years.  

 

 

During the past years, the company’s policy was that of allotting dividends to the shareholders to 

the extent to which recorded results allowed for such allotment.  

 

Situation of allotted and paid dividends for the last 3 years:  

 

-in 2014, dividends amounting to 388.239,90 lei have been allotted out of the net profit of 2012 

(77.647,98 lei) and out of the net profit of 2013 (310.591,92 lei), (aggregate gross dividend / 

share 0,10 lei) . In 2014 dividends amounting to 214.959 lei have been paid.  

 

-in 2015 dividends amounting to 936.733,25 lei have been allotted (gross dividend  0,19 lei/share) 

out of the 2014 net profit, in compliance with the Resolution of the Ordinary Meeting of 

Shareholders no. 1 / April 28th, 2015.  

In 2015 shareholders have been paid net dividends amounting to 828.191,50 lei and the tax per 

dividends retained to source amounting to 130.445 lei has been paid to the state budget.  
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-in 2016 we allotted dividends amounting to 1.972.070 lei (gross dividend 0,40 lei / share),out of 

the net proceeds of 2015, in compliance with the Resolution of the Ordinary General Meeting of 

Shareholders nr.1/April 27th, 2016. 

Shareholders have been paid in 2016 dividends amounting to the net amount of 1.505.643 lei and 

the company paid to the state budget dividend taxes amounting to 86.746 lei. 

 

In December 2016 the prescribed dividends amounting to1.155.160 lei have been recorded as 

other income form exploitation, representing dividends allotted in 2001, 2006, 2007, 2009, 2011 

and  2012 and not paid until December 31st, 2016.   

 

 

3.3. Description of any company’s activities to purchase own shares. 

 

Not applicable. The company did not purchase its own shares in 2016.  

 

3.4. If the company has branches, the number and par value of shares issued by the mother 

company and owned by the branch.  
 

Not applicable. The company does not have any branches, but it opened four secondary business 

offices in Braila, Ploiesti, Bucharest and Brasov. 

 

3.5. If the company issued bonds and / or other debentures, presentation of the manner in 

which the company pays its debts considering such movable assets.  
 

Not applicable. The company did not issue bonds or other debentures.  

 

4. Management of the company. 

 

4.1. List of directors of the company and the following information regarding each director:  

  

During 2016 the company has been managed by a Board of Directors composed of 5 members, 

appointed pursuant to a management mandate for 2013 – 2017, in compliance with the resolution 

of the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders no. 3/April 26th, 2013.  

We outline the fact that on November 29th, 2016 the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders 

took place and pursuant to such meeting a new Board of Directors was appointed, formed of 5 

members, appointed in accordance with a management contract for a 4 year duration, 2016 – 

2020, in compliance with Resolution no. 2 / November 29th, 2016 of the Ordinary General 

Meeting of Shareholders.  

 

a) Resume (name, age, professional qualification, professional experience, position and 

seniority). 

b) Any agreement, understanding, family relationship between the respective director and another 

person due to whom that person was appointed as director;  

c) Participation of the director to the company’s share capital; 

d) List of persons affiliated to the company.  

 

4.1.1. POPOVICIU VIOREL DORIN, a member of the Board of Directors and the President of 

the Board of Directors between January 1st, 2016 and December 31st, 2016. He is 62 years old 

and he is an engineer.  
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a) All positions held between the company are as follows: engineer, intern, main engineer, 

manager, general manager, 38 year seniority. 

b)Not applicable. 

c)On December 31st, 2016 he was the holder of 643.170 shares.  

d) Presented in Note 22 to the Financial Statements and in the annex to the herein report.  

 

4.1.2. POPA GHEORGHE TITUS DAN, member of the Board of Directors between January 1st, 

2016 and December 31st, 2016. 62 years old, engineer.  

a)Never did and still does not hold another position in the company.. 

b)Not applicable.. 

c)He was the holder of 617.796 shares on December 31st, 2016.  

d) Presented in Note 22 to the Financial Statements and in the annex to the herein report 

 

4.1.3. CRISAN  VIOREL VASILE, member of the Board of Directors between January 1st, 2016 

and December 31st, 2016. 67 years old, economist.  

a)No other positions within the company. 

b)Not applicable. 

c)he was the holder of  7.609 shares on December 31st, 2016.  

d) Not applicable. 

 

4.1.4 .IONESCU  MIRCEA-PIETRO, member of the Board of Directors between January 1st, 2016 

and December 31st, 2016. 60 years old, engineer.  

a)No other positions within the. 

b)Not applicable. 

c)he was the holder of 1.238.396 shares on December 31st, 2016.  

d)Not applicable. . 

 

4.1.5. TURCU IACOB OVIDIU, director and member of the Board of Director between January 

1st, 2016 and December 31st, 2016. 66 years old, engineer.  

a)No other positions within the company.  

b)Not applicable. . 

c)He was the holder of 164 shares on December 31st, 2016.  

d) Presented in Note 22 to the Financial Statements and in the annex to the herein report. 

 

4.2. List of company’s executives. The following information is put forward for each one of 

them.  

 

Executive management is provided for by a general manager who performs his / her duties 

pursuant to a mandate contract entered with the Board of Directors and a team of 3 executives.   

 

a)Time when the respective person is an executive of the company;  

b) Any agreement, understanding, family relationship between the respective person and another 

person due to whom that person was appointed as executive; 

c)participation of that person to the company’s share capital.  
  
 

4.2.1. POPOVICIU VIOREL DORIN, general manager. 

a)Employment Contract for 2013-2017 and 2016-2020 

b)Not applicable. 

c)He was the holder of 643.170 shares on December 31st, 2016.  
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4.2.2. BARABULA MIHAELA MARIA, Economic manager  

a)Permanent employment contract 

b)N/A. 

c)N/A.  

 

4.2.3. GIURGIU LIANA, Sales Manager  

a)Permanent employment contract  

b) N/A. 

c) N/A . 

 

4.2.4.CAREAN NASTASIA, Technical – Manufacture manager 

a)Permanent employment contract 

b)N/A. 

c)N/A . 

 

4.3. With regards to all persons presented at point 4.1 and 4.2 specification of potential 

disputes or administrative procedures they have been involved in during the past 5 years, 

regarding their activity within the company, as well as information regarding the capacity of 

these persons to fulfill  duties within the company.  

  

Not applicable due to the fact that none of the above have been involved in disputes as specified 

above.  

 

5.Financial – accounting situation. . 

 

Presentation of the comparative economic – financial situation d for the last 3 years, 

regarding: 
  

a) balance sheet elements: assets that stand for at least 10% of the aggregate assets; cash 

and other liquidities; reinvested profits, aggregate assets; total of liabilities.     
                     

                   The overall situation of assets is the following:  

  

  2014 2015 2016 

Total of assets  lei 62.918.430 79.228.952 77.189.235 

Stocks lei 11.186.268 11.959.107 12.062.446 

Stocks % 17,78 15,09 15,63 

Commercial receivables  lei 7.468.650 6.883.973 6.845.623 

Commercial receivables  % 11,87 8,69 8,87 

Other assets lei 102.347 131.480 75.704 

Other assets % 0,16 0,17 0,10 

Tax per profit to be currently 

recovered  

lei - 27.080 0 

Cash and cash equivalent value  lei 182.660 1.867.879 576.164 

Cash and cash equivalent value % 0,29 2,36 0,75 

Real estate investments lei 3.736.078 5.779.239 6.605.581 

Real estate investments % 5,93 7,29 8,56 

Intangible assets  lei 18.711 29.281 20.857 

Tangible assets lei 40.185.716 52.512.913 50.964.860 
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Tangible assets  % 63,87 66,28 66,03 

Investments in instruments and own 

capitals  

lei 38.000 38.000 38.000 

   

 

Status of liabilities: 

 

 

  2014 2015 2016 

Total of liabilities  lei 62.918.430 79.228.952 77.189.235 

Share capital  lei 9.705.998 12.325.438 12.325.438 

Amendments to the share capital  lei - - - 

Other components of own capitals  lei 36.542.339 45.785.213 45.979.015 

Reported result lei 6.216.738 7.896.305 6.831.926 

Long term loans lei 17.624 412.758 206.926 

Long term provisions lei 172.490 172.490 172.490 

Postponed outstanding tax lei 2.814.845 4.909.676 4.770.997 

Current part of the long term loans  lei 3.119.758 2.929.608 2.912.874 

Commercial and other types of debts  lei 4.276.351 4.797.464 3.870.455 

Current tax per profit lei 52.287 - 119.114 

 

For the 2016 financial year, the annual financial statements have been drafted in compliance with 

the International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union, in compliance 

with provisions of the Order of the Ministry of Public Finance no. 2844 / 2016 for the approval of 

Accounting Regulations, compliant with the International Financial Reporting Standards, 

enforceable for trading companies whose movable assets are admitted for trading on a regulated 

market, with subsequent amendments and additions.  
 

 

b) The account of profit, gross revenues, elements of costs and expenses with at least 20% 

share in the net expenses or gross revenues, risk provisions and those for various expenses, 

reference to any sale or cease of an activity sector performed during the past year or that is 

to be performed in the following year; declared and paid dividends.  
 

 

                    Evolution of the profit and loss account  
 

 

  2014 2015 2016 

Total revenues lei 30.446.767 34.508.024 32.625.379 

Total expenses  lei -29.227.613 -31.211.400 -31.390.893 

Gross profit lei 1.219.154 3.296.624 1.234.486 

Tax per profit (current and 

postponed) 

lei -176.986 -568.059 -266.521 

Net profit lei 

 

 

1.042.168 2.728.565 967.965 
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Cost elements that account for more than 20% of the total revenues  

  2014 2015 2016 

-expenses for raw materials 

merchandise and consumables  

% 35,59 33,62 34,37 

-expenses for employees’ benefits  % 39,94 38,49 40,17 

-expenses for redemption and 

depreciation  

lei -1.683.361 -1.577.397 -2.400.810 

-other operational expenses  -4.360.192 -4.550.084 -4.613.609 

-dividends allotted at the end of the 

period  

lei 936.733 1.972.070 0* 

-dividends paid during the 

respective year (related tax 

included) 

lei 214.959 958.637 1.592.389 

*proposition of the Board of Directors to allot dividends out of the 2016 net profit within the Ordinary General 

Meeting of Shareholders of April 2017.  

 

 In 2016 there has been no sale or cease of an activity sector and we believe it shall be the same 

for 2017.  

 

c)Cash flow: all changes occurred at cash level within the basic activity, investments and 

financial activity, level of cash at the beginning and end of the period.  

  

 2014 2015 2016 

Net treasury out of exploitation activities  1.544.446 2.307.915 2.441.647 

Net treasury out of investment activities -417.263 -1.237.127 -1.570.356 

Net treasury out of financing activities  -1.087.993 614.431 -2.163.007 

Total cash – flow  39.190 1.685.219 -1.291.715 

Cash at the beginning of the period  143.470 182.660 1.867.879 

Cash at the end of the period  182.660 1.867.879 576.164 

 

 

In 2014 the investment expenses amounted to a total of 482.376 lei and investments amounting to 

335.008 lei have been completed. 

In 2016 the investment expenses amounted to a total of 3.534.906 lei and investments amounting 

to 3.430.568 lei have been completed. 

In 2016 the investment expenses grew to an aggregate of 2.182.900 lei and investments amounting 

to 2.079.565 have been completed.  

 

 

6.Signatures 

  Popoviciu Viorel-Dorin – Engineer 
      President of the Board of Directors 

        

       Barabula Mihaela-Maria - Economist 
             Economic Manager 
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Appendix. 

 

 

 

 

a) Memorandum of Association, if amended during the reported year.  

 

Not applicable 

 

b) Important Contracts entered by the company during the reported year.  

 

Not applicable 

 

c)resignation / dismissal documents, if applicable for the directors, executives, independent 

financial auditor.  

 

Not applicable. 

 

d) List of company’s branches and of companies controlled by the same.  

 

Not applicable. 

 

e) List of persons affiliated to the company, the company traded with in 2016: : 

 
- CARBOREF  SA (Joint – Stock Company)                              Cluj-Napoca 

-EURO-CLUB SRL (Ltd)                                  Timisoara 

-AUTOEUROPA SRL (Ltd)                                 Timisoara 

-SERVICE AUTOMOBILE 2 SRL (Ltd)      Cluj-Napoca 

-DACIA SERVICE FELEAC SRL (Ltd)    Cluj-Napoca  

 

 

Value of the transactions with the aforementioned companies is presented in the financial 

statements of 2016.  
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CARBOCHIM S.A. 

 

INCOME STATEMENT 

 

(all amounts are expressed in RON, unless otherwise stated) 

1 din 59 
 

 

 Note 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

    

Revenues 17 30,451,127  30,021,923 

Other income 17 3,432,585 2,585,453 

Changes in inventories of finished goods 

and  production in progress  606,846        16,382 

    34,490,558   32,623,758 

    

Raw materials, merchandise and 

consumables employed   (11,602,484)  (11,213,016) 

Employees benefits expenses 18 (13,280,985) (13,105,288) 

Depreciation and amortization expenses   (1,577,397)  (2,400,810) 

Other operating expenses 19 (4,550,084) (4,613,609) 

  (31,010,950) (31,332,723) 

    

Operating income    3,479,608   1,291,035 

    

Financial income 20 17,466 1,621 

Funding costs 20 (200,450) (58,170) 

Financial net result       (182,984)      (56,549) 

    

Profit before tax    3,296,624   1,234,486 

    

Income tax expense 21 (568,059)  (266,521)  

    

Net profit for the year          2,728,565         967,965 

    

    

Basic earnings and diluted earnings per 

share (RON per share) 23 0,55 0,20 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 

(all amounts are expressed in RON, unless otherwise stated) 

2 din 59 
 

 

 Note 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

    

Other comprehensive income    

    

Profit for the year  2,728,565 967,965 

    

Other comprehensive income:    

Gains / (losses) on revaluation of assets 
 10,863,692 0 

Change of deferred tax recognized in the 

revaluation reserve     (1,733,083)    133,528 

    

Other comprehensive income for the 

year, excluding taxes       9,130,609    133,528 

    

Total comprehensive income of the 

year  11,859,174   1,101,493   

    

0 



CARBOCHIM S.A. 

 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

(all amounts are expressed in RON, unless otherwise stated) 

3 din 59 
 

 

 Note 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

ASSETS    

Non-current assets    

Investment property 8 5,779,239       6,605,581       

Other intangible assets 7 29,281    20,857    

Tangible assets 6 52,512,913       50,964,860       

Investments in equity instruments  38,000    38,000    

Total non-current assets  58,359,433       57,629,298       

    

Current assets    

Inventories 10 11,959,107   12,062,446   

Trade receivables 11  6,883,973     6,845,623    

Other current assets 11 131,480       75,704       

Current profit tax receivable 11,21 27,080   0   

Cash and cash equivalents 12  1,867,879     576,164    

Total current assets   20,869,519        19,559,937       

    

TOTAL ASSETS  79,228,952          77,189,235          

    

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND  

LIABILITIES    

Equity capital    

Share capital 13 12,325,438 12,325,438 

Adjustments to shareholders’ equity 13 -   -   

Other shareholders’ equity items  45,785,213 45,979,015 

Retained earnings  7,896,305 6,831,926 

Total shareholders' equity    66,006,956      65,136,379    

    

Long-term liabilities    

Long-term loans 14 -       -       

Finance lease liabilities 15 412,758 206,926 

Long-term provisions 5 172,490    172,490    

Deferred tax liability 21 4,909,676          4,770,997          

Total long-term liabilities      5,494,924              5,150,413          

 

 

 

  

    

Current liabilities    

Current portion of long term loans 14 2,154,680      2,599,141      

Current portion of finance lease 

liabilities 15 774,928 313,733 

Trade payables and of other  16 4,797,464    3,870,455    
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

(all amounts are expressed in RON, unless otherwise stated) 

4 din 59 
 

 

 Note 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

nature 

Current income tax 16.21                 0                 119,114          

    

Total current liabilities    7,727,072            6,902,443          

    

TOTAL LIABILITIES     13,221,996         12,052,856      

    

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS'  

   EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  79,228,952    77,189,235    

 

 

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2017 and 

were signed on its behalf. 

 

 

 

 

Popoviciu Viorel-Dorin     Barabula Mihaela-Maria 

 

 

Director Chief Financial Officer 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 

(all amounts are expressed in RON, unless otherwise stated) 

5 din 59 
 

 

 Note 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

    

Cash flows from operating  

activities    

Proceeds from customers and other debtors   39,440,382  37,958,036 

Payments to suppliers, employees and other 

creditors  (25,475,078)  (24.839.094)  

Interest paid  (98,047) (33,862) 

Income taxes, social contributions, other 

duties and taxes paid  (11,559,342) (10,643,433) 

Net cash from operating activities   2,307,915  2,441,647 

   -     -    

Cash flows from operating activities    

 Payments for acquisition of shares  - - 

 Payments for acquisitions of tangible  

assets  (1,254,593) (1,818,449) 

Proceeds from sale of tangible assets   -    246,472    

Interest received  17,466 1,621 

Dividends received   -     -    

Net cash from investing activities   (1,237,127)  (1,570,356) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities     

Proceeds from issue of shares  2,619,440 0 

Proceeds from loans  28,957,654 16,660,081 

Payment of liabilities related to financial  

lease  (880,228) (1,014,819) 

Dividends paid  (192,245) (1,597,751) 

Repayments of amounts borrowed  (29,890,190) (16,210,518) 

Net cash from financing activities   614,431  614,431 

    

Cash flows - total        1,685,219       (1,291,715) 

Cash at the beginning of period  182,660 1,867,879 

Cash at the end of period 12  1,867,879  576,164 

    



CARBOCHIM S.A. 

 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES in SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

 

(all amounts are expressed in RON unless otherwise specified) 

6 din 59 
 

 

 Notes Share capital 

Adjustments 

to the share  

           capital 

 Other 

      reserves 

Profit or loss 

brought 

forward and 

not  

distributed 

Total 

shareholders'  

equity 

       

Balance as at 1 January 2015  9,705,998                   - 36,542,337 6,216,740 52,465,075 

       

Net profit for the year 2015  - - - 2,728,565 2,728,565 

       

Other comprehensive income for the period       

Distribution of profit or loss in legal reserve  - - 73,674 (73,674) - 

Movements in revaluation reserve  - - 10,863,692   - 10,863,692 

Distribution of the previous year profit in other reserves  - - 44,477 (44,477) - 

Achievements of revaluation reserve  - - (5,885) 5,885 - 

Deferred profit tax resulting from revaluation  - - (1,733,083) - (1,733,083) 

 

Transactions with shareholders       

Dividends paid to shareholders                   -                   -                    - (936,733) (936,733) 

Share capital increase  2,619,440 - - - 2,619,440 

Total comprehensive profit  12,325,438                   - 45,785,212 7,896,306 66,006,956 

  

Balance as at 31 December 2015  12,325,438                   - 45,785,212 7,896,306 66,006,956 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES in SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

 

(all amounts are expressed in RON unless otherwise specified) 

7 din 59 
 

 

 

 

The Company complies with the national rules in force on the distribution of reserves to shareholders. 

 Notes 

Share 

 capital 

Adjustments to 

the share capital 

 Other 

reserves 

Result  

reported 

Total 

shareholders'  

equity 

       

Balance as at 1 January 2016  12,325,438                   - 45,785,212 7,896,306 66,006,956 

       

Net profit for the year 2016  - - - 967,965 967,965 

       

Other comprehensive income for the period       

Distribution of profit or loss in legal reserve  - - 61,725 (61,725) - 

Movements in revaluation reserve  - - -   - - 

Distribution of the previous year profit in other reserves  - - - - - 

Achievements of revaluation reserve  - - (1,450) 1,450 - 

Deferred profit tax resulting from revaluation  - - - - - 

Reversal of deferred profit tax resulting from revaluation  - - 133,528 - 133,528 

Transactions with shareholders       

Dividends paid to shareholders                   -                   -                    - 

                 

(1,972,070)   (1,972,070) 

Share capital increase  - - - - - 

       

Total comprehensive profit  12,325,438                   - 45,979,015 6,831,926 65,136,379 

  

Balance as at 31 December 2016  12,325,438                   - 45,979,015 6,831,926 65,136,379 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

CARBOCHIM S.A. was set up as a joint-stock company in 1991, by transforming the former I.I.S. 

CARBOCHIM and has its registered office in Romania, CLUJ-NAPOCA City, 1 Mai Square No. 3. 

 

The Company was founded initially in 1949, for the production of coal, and the activity profile had 

changed by subsequent investment, leading to the production and sale of abrasive products: 

vitrified bonded grinding wheels, bakelite bonded grinding wheels, elastic bonded grinding wheels, 

mineral bonded abrasives, abrasive cutting and deburring grinding wheels, abrasive paper, cloth - 

paper combined, and volcano fiber. Moreover, the activity includes internal and external trade 

activities, services on maintenance and repair of machinery, as well as manufacturing and office 

space rental. 

 

CARBOCHIM SA is an open Company, the Company’s shares are listed on the Bucharest Stock 

Exchange in 2nd category. 

 

As at 31 December 2016, the structure of the financial instruments holders holding at least 10% of 

the share capital of Carbochim S.A. is as follows: 

 Number of Percentage of 

  Shares         Ownership 

   (%) 

IONESCU MIRCEA-PIETRO 1,238,396 251,187 

POPOVICIU VIOREL-DORIN 643,170 130,456 

POPA GHEORGHE TITUS DAN 617.796 125,309 

S.C. ELECTROARGEŞ S.A. 611.133 123,958 

Individuals 1,150,216 233,301 

Legal entities 669,464 135,789 

TOTAL 4,930,175          100 

 

 

CARBOCHIM SA holds a participating interest in CARBOREF SA from Cluj-Napoca, of 25% of the 

share capital, an investment of RON 37,500. 

 

In 2005, CARBOCHIM SA participated as a founding member to the establishment of the 

Equipment Manufacturers and Importers Association for Wood Industry in Romania (A.P.I.E.L. - 

Romania), its contribution to the initial assets of the Association being of RON 500 which 

represents a share of 7,14% %. 

 

CARBOCHIM SA has no subsidiaries or shareholdings in other companies than those mentioned 

above. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The main accounting policies applied in preparing these financial statements are set out below.  

These policies have been consistently applied to all financial years presented, unless otherwise 

stated. 

 

2.1 Basis for drafting 

 

The financial statements of CARBOCHIM S.A as at 31 December 2016 have been prepared 

in accordance with the international financial reporting Standards as adopted by the 

European Union. 

  

The provisions of the Order of the Ministry of Finance 2844/2016 approving the 

accounting regulations compliant with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

were taken into consideration. 

 

In this respect, the statement of financial position, a component of the annual financial 

statements ended as at 31 December 2016, includes information corresponding to the end 

of the reporting year and the end of the financial year prior to the reporting year. Moreover, 

the statement of comprehensive income includes information corresponding to the current 

financial year and the financial year prior to the reporting year.   

 

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires the use of certain 

critical accounting estimates.  It also requires the application of complex judgments by the 

management in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies.  The areas 

involving a higher degree of complexity and application of these reasons, or where 

assumptions and estimates have a significant impact on the financial statements, are 

presented in Note 4. 
 

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policies and presentation of information 

 

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Company 
 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those used in the previous 

year. 

The following standards, amendments to the existing standards and 

interpretations issued by the Drafting Committee of the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the European Union are in effect for the 

current period and have been adopted in the financial statements. The impact of 

these new and revised standards has been reflected in the financial statements and 

estimated as being non-material, except for the presentations made. 
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IAS 1: Disclosure initiative (amendment) 

IAS 1 amendments: the disclosure of the financial statements encourages even 

more the companies to apply their professional judgment when determining the 

information to submit and how to structure it in the financial statements. The 

amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 

January 2016. The amendments clarify, rather than bring major changes, the 

existing IAS 1requirements. The amendments relate to materiality, the order of 

notes, subtotals and disaggregation, accounting policies and disclosure of other 

comprehensive income resulting from investments accounted for under the equity 

method. 

 

IAS 16. Tangible assets and IAS 38 Intangible assets (amendment):  

clarification of the acceptable methods for depreciation 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 

January 2016. The amendment provides additional guidance on how the 

amortization of tangible and intangible assets should be calculated. This 

amendment clarifies the principles of IAS 16 Tangible assets and IAS 38 Intangible 

assets according to which the income reflects a pattern of economic benefits that 

are generated from a business (which includes the asset) rather than economic 

benefits consumed by using the asset. As a result, the ratio between the revenues 

generated and the total revenues expected cannot be used for the amortization of a 

tangible item but it can be used only in very few cases to amortize intangible assets. 

 

IAS 19 Defined benefit plans (amendment): employee contributions 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 

January 2015 

The amendment applies to employees or third party contributions to defined 

benefit plans. The amendment aims to simplify the accounting of contributions 

that are independent of the length of service, for example, employee contributions 

which are calculated according to a fixed percentage of salary. 

 

IAS 27 Individual financial statements (amendment) 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 

January 2016. 

This amendment allows entities to use the equity method to account for 

investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in the separate financial 

statements. 

 

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28: Investment entities: the waiver 

consolidation (amendment) 

The amendments relate to three issues arising in practice in connection with the 

waiver consolidated for investment entities. 
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The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 

January 2016. 

The amendments clarify that the exception from the disclosure of the consolidated 

financial statements applies to a parent entity which is a subsidiary of an 

investment entity when the investment entity shall assess all its subsidiaries at fair 

value. The amendment clarifies that only a subsidiary that is not an investment 

entity but provides advisory services for the investment entity is consolidated. All 

the other subsidiaries of an investment entity are measured at fair value. 

The amendments of IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures allow 

investors that upon the application of the equity method to keep the fair value 

measurement applied for the associate or joint venture entity of the investment 

entity for its interests in the subsidiaries. 

 

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements (amendment): accounting for the 

acquisition of interests in joint operations 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 

January 2016. 

IFRS 11 outlines the accounting by entities that jointly control an arrangement. 

The amendment clarifies the accounting for acquisitions of an interest in a joint 

operation when the operation constitutes a business in accordance with IFRS and 

specifies the appropriate accounting treatment for these acquisitions. 

 

IASB issued IFRS Annual Improvements - Cycle 2010-2012, which is a 

collection of amendments in IFRS. The amendments are effective for annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 February 2015. 

 

- IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: this improvement amends the definition of 

"Vesting condition" and "Terms of payment" and adds definitions for "performance 

condition" and "Service condition", which were previously included in the 

definition of "vesting conditions". 

 

- IFRS 3 Business combinations: this improvement clarifies that the 

contingent consideration in an acquisition of companies which is not classified as 

equity is subsequently assessed at fair value through profit or loss whether it 

belongs or not in the scope of IFRS 9 Financial instruments. 

 

- IFRS 8 Operating segments: this improvement requires an entity to disclose 

judgments issued by the management entity implementing aggregation of business 

segments and clarifies that an entity must disclose only reconciliations of total 

assets of segments reportable to the entity’s assets if the segment assets are 

reported regularly. 

 



CARBOCHIM S.A. 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

(all amounts are expressed in RON unless otherwise stated) 

12 of 59 

 

- IFRS 13 Fair value measurement: this improvement clarifies that the 

issuance of IFRS 13 and amendments to IFRS 9 and IAS 39 did not eliminate the 

possibility to evaluate assets and liabilities in the short term without a declared 

interest rate at their invoice value, without discount, if the effect is not significant. 

 

- IAS 16 Tangible assets: the improvement highlights that at the time of the 

revision of an item of property, the raw accounting is adjusted to correspond to the 

gross value of the revaluation. 

 

- IAS 24 Related party disclosures: the improvement clarifies that an entity 

providing management key personal services for the reporting entity or the parent 

of the reporting entity is a related party of the reporting entity. 

 

- IAS 38 Intangible assets: the improvement clarifies that at the time of the 

revaluation of the intangible asset, the gross accounting value is adjusted so that to 

correspond to the value of the gross revaluation. 

 

IASB issued IFRS Annual Improvements - Cycle 2012-2014, which is a 

collection of amendments in IFRS. The amendments are effective for annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 

 

- IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations: 

The amendment clarifies that the transition from one method of transfer to 

another (by assignment or distribution to owners) should not be considered to be a 

new assignment plan but as a continuation of the initial plan. Therefore, there is no 

interruption in the application of IFRS 5 requirements. It is clarified that changing 

the method of transfer does not change the date of classification. 

 

- IFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures: The amendment clarifies that a 

service contract which includes a fee may have a continuing involvement in the 

asset. Moreover, the amendment clarifies that the disclosures required by IFRS 7 

on offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities should not be compressed in 

the interim financial report. 

 

- IAS 19 Employee benefits: The amendment clarifies that the depth of the 

market for high quality corporate bonds is evaluated based on the currency in 

which the bond is expressed rather than the country accommodating the bond. 

When there is no deep market for high quality corporate bonds in the respective 

currency, one must use the rates applicable to state bonds. 

 

- IAS 34 Interim financial reporting: The amendment clarifies that the 

interim financial information to be disclosed should either exist in the interim 

financial statements, or be incorporated by cross-referencing between the interim 
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financial statements and the place where they are included in the extended interim 

financial report. The Committee stated that other information in the interim 

financial report must be made available to users on the same terms as for the 

interim financial statements and on the same date. If users do not have access to 

other information in this way, the interim financial report is incomplete. 

 

(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not applicable for the 

reporting year starting 01 January 2016, therefore not adopted: 
 

-IFRS 9 financial instruments:  refers to the classification, evaluation 

and recognition of financial assets and liabilities.  

The standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 

January 1 2018 and early application is permitted. The final version of IFRS 9 

reflects all phases of the draft on financial instruments and replaces IAS 39 

Financial instruments: recognition and measurement and all previous versions of 

IFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements on classification and 

assessment, impairment and hedge accounting. 
 

 

-IFRS 14 Revenue from contracts with customers: The standard is effective 

for periods beginning on or after 01 January 2018. IFRS 15 establishes a new model 

in five stages which will apply for the recognition of revenue from a contract with a 

customer (with limited exceptions), regardless of the transaction type or industry. 

 

The clarifications apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 

January 2018 and early application is permitted. The clarifications aim to clarify 

IASB intentions when drafting the requirements of IFRS 15, especially accounting 

for identify the obligations of implementing, modifying the formulation of the 

principle "separately identifiable" assets, the considerations on the agent and 

principal, including assessment of whether the entity acts as agent or principal, and 

the principle of control and licensing, providing additional guidance on accounting 

for intellectual property and royalties. Additional clarifications provide practical 

solutions to entities that apply IFRS 15 completely retrospectively, or choose to 

apply the modified retrospective approach. These clarifications have not yet been 

adopted by the EU. 

 

-Amendment to IFRS 10. Consolidated financial statements and IAS 28. 

Investments in associates and joint ventures: sale or contribution of 

assets between an investor and its associated entity or joint venture. The 

amendments refer to an inconsistency identified between IFRS 10 and the 

requirements of IAS 28 in connection with the sale of and contribution with assets 

between an investor and its associated entity or joint venture. In December 2015, 
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the IASB has postponed indefinitely the effective date of this amendment. The 

changes have not yet been adopted by the EU. 

 

- IFRS 16 Leases: The standard will be effective for annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after 01 January 2019. The standard establishes principles for the 

recognition, measurement, disclosure and description / providing information 

about leases of the two parties to a contract, and namely, the customer (lessee) and 

the supplier (lessor). The new standard requires that tenants should recognize most 

leases in the financial statements. The residents will have a single accounting 

sample for all contracts, with certain exceptions. Lessor’s accounting significantly 

remains unchanged. The standard has not yet been adopted by the EU. 

 

- IAS 12: Recognition of deferred taxes for unrealized losses 

(amendments): The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 01 January 2017 and early application is permitted. These amendments 

aim to clarify the requirements relating to receivables on deferred taxes relating to 

unrealized gains, to address diversity in practice regarding the application of IAS 12 

Income taxes. The specific issue of the fact that, in practice, there is diversity in the 

application, refers to the existence of temporary differences deductible to the 

reduction of fair values, the recovery of an asset at less than its carrying amount, 

the future probable taxable profits and combined valuation versus separate 

valuation. The changes have not yet been adopted by the EU. 

 

- IAS 7: Disclosure initiative (amendments): The amendments are effective 

for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2017 and early 

application is permitted. These amendments aim to provide information that 

enables users of financial statements to evaluate the changes in respect of debts 

resulting from financing activities, including changes occurring both in cash flows, 

and the non-cash items. The amendments specify that a way of fulfilling the 

disclosure requirements is to provide a tabular reconciliation between the initial 

balances and the final balances in the financial statement when debts resulting 

from financing activities, including changes in cash flows from financing activity, 

changes resulting from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other 

segments, the effect of changes in exchange rates, changes in fair value and other 

changes. The amendments have not yet been adopted by the EU. 

 

- IFRS 2: Classification and measurement of share-based payment 

transactions (amendments) The amendments are effective for annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2018 and early application is 

permitted. 

The amendments stipulate accounting requirements for the effects of the necessary 

conditions for vesting and the adverse revocable conditions for vesting on 

assessment of payments based on shares settled in cash, transactions with payment 
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based on shares with characteristic net settlement of source taxation obligations, 

and for the changes to terms and conditions applicable to share-based payments 

that alter the classification of the transaction from cash-settled transaction to 

transaction with settlement through the issuance of equity instruments. The 

amendments have not yet been adopted by the EU. 

 

- IFRS 4: Applying IFRS 9 Financial instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance 

Contracts (amendment) 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 

January 2018. 

The amendments relate to concerns arising from the implementation of the new 

standard on financial instruments, IFRS 9, before the new standard on insurance 

contracts which the Council is developing to replace IFRS 4. The amendments 

introduce two options for entities that issue insurance contracts: a temporary 

exemption from the application of IFRS and overlay approach that would allow 

entities that issue contracts within the scope of IFRS 4 to reclassify, from the profit 

or loss account in other comprehensive income, some of the revenues and expenses 

generated by the designated financial assets. 

 

-IFRS 40: Transfers to investment property (amendment) 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 

January 2018 and early application is permitted. 

The amendment clarifies when an entity should transfer the property, including 

property under construction or development, or in the real estate investments. The 

amendment states that a change of use occurs when the property meets or no 

longer meets the definition of investment property and there is evidence on the 

change of use. A simple changing of the leadership intent on using a building does 

not provide evidence of a change of use. 

 

IFRIC 22 Interpretation: Transactions in foreign currency and advance 

consideration. 

The interpretation is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 

January 2018 and early application is permitted. 

The interpretation clarifies the accounting for transactions that include the receipt 

or payment of sums in advance in foreign currency. The interpretation covers 

currency transactions in which the entity recognizes a non-cash asset or liability 

resulting from non-cash payment or receipt of an amount in advance before the 

entity recognizes the asset, expense and related income. The interpretation 

provides that, in order to determine the exchange rate, the transaction date is the 

date of initial recognition of the non-monetary prepaid asset or deferred income 

liability. Where there are several advance payments or receipts, the entity should 

determine a date of transaction for each payment or receipt of the amount in 

advance. 
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-IASB issued the IFRS Annual Improvements cycle 2014-2016, which is a 

collection of amendments in IFRS. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 01 

January 2017 for IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities and beginning on 

or after 01 January 2018 for IFRS 1 First-time adoption of International Financial 

Reporting Standards and IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures. 

 Early application is permitted for IAS 28. 

 

 IFRS 1 First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting 

Standards 

This improvement eliminates short-term exemptions on disclosures about 

financial instruments, employee benefits and investment entities, 

applicable for companies that adopt the first International Financial 

Reporting Standards. 

 

 IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures: The 

amendment clarifies that the choice to assess at fair value, through profit 

and loss account, an investment in an associate or a joint venture that is 

owned by an entity which is a joint venture or another entity that qualifies 

as such, is available for each investment in an associate or a joint venture 

for each investor, on initial recognition. 

 

 IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities: The amendment 

clarifies that the IFRS 12disclosure requirements apply, except in the 

summarized financial information for subsidiaries, joint ventures and 

associates, the interests of an entity in a subsidiary, joint ventures and 

associate that are classified as held to sell, for distribution or discontinued 

operations according to IFRS 5. 

 

2.2 Reporting by segments 

 

A business segment is a distinctive component of the Company: 

  

a) that engages in business activities from which it may obtain revenues from which can 

incur expenditure, 

 

b) whose results from activities are examined periodically by the Company’s chief operating 

decision maker in order to take decisions about resource allocation and assessment of segment 

performance, and 

 

c) for which discrete financial information is available. 
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IFRS 8. The activity segments should apply to the individual financial statements of the 

Company as its own equity instruments are traded in a public market (BSE). 

The presentation of information on products and services and geographic areas in which 

the Company carries out its activity is mandatory, even for those entities that identify a single 

reportable segment, considering the quantitative thresholds and aggregation criteria stipulated by 

the standard. 

Considering the quantitative thresholds and aggregation criteria set by the standard in 

terms of business segments, the Company does not identify distinctive components in terms of the 

related risks and benefits. 

 

Presentation of geographical areas in which the Company operates: 

 

Outlet market Share (%) 

2015 

Amount of 

revenue 

31 

December 

2015 

Share 

(%) 

2016 

Amount of 

revenue 

31 

December 

2016 

External (Poland, Hungary, 

Germany, Belgium, Slovakia, The 

Czech Republic, Switzerland, 

Netherlands) 

 

2 

 

634,314 

 

3 

 

1,032,457 

Internal (Romania) 98 33,856,244 97 31,591,301 

Total operational revenue 100 34,490,558 100 32,623,758 

Disclosure of information on the Company’s products and services 

 

Product or service Share 

(%) 

2015 

Amount of 

revenue 

31 December 

2015 

 

Share 

(%) 

2016 

Amount of 

revenue 

31 

December 

2016 

 

Grinding wheels 51,10 17,625,735 52,57 17,151,511 

Coated abrasives 33,77 11,647,084 36,09 11,771,650 

Other products 0,53 181,427 0,72 235,509 

Rental income 3,79 1,307,942 4,30 1,403,067 

Revenue from sale of goods 2,31 796,717 2,01 654,499 

Other income, including changes 

in stocks of finished goods and 

work in progress 

8,50 2,931,653 4,31 1,407,522 

Total operational revenue 100,00 34,490,558 100,00 32,623,758 

 
  

2.3 Foreign currency translation 
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(a) Functional and presentation currency 
 

Items included in the financial statements are measured in the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional 

currency”).  The financial statements are presented in Romanian lei (“RON”), 

which is the functional and presentation currency of the Company. 

 

Exchange rates as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 are as follows: 

                                                                              2016                             2015 

     ----------------------------------------- 

EUR        4,5411                                4,5245   

USD                                    4,3033                                4,1477                                 
 
 

(b) Transactions and balances 
 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the 

exchange rate on the date of the transactions or valuation for items that are 

revalued.  Gains and losses on exchange differences arising from these transactions 

and from the translation at the rate of year-end monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement, unless 

they are registered in other items of the comprehensive income as financial 

instruments that are designated as hedging instruments for cash flow hedge, as 

well as financial instruments that are designated as hedging instruments of net 

investment. 

Gains and losses on exchange rate, which refer to loans and leases, are presented in 

the income statement under “income or financial costs”.   
 

All other gains and losses on exchange are presented in the income statement 

under “other (losses) / gains – net”. 
 
  

2.4 Accounting of the hyperinflation effect 

 

The Romanian economy has recorded high levels of inflation in the past and was 

considered to be hyperinflationary as defined in IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in 

Hyperinflationary Economies”. 

 

IAS 29 requires that financial statements prepared in the currency of a hyperinflationary 

economy be stated in terms of purchasing power as at 31 December 2003. Therefore, the 

values reported in terms of purchasing power as at 31 December 2003 are treated as the 

basis for the accounting amounts of these financial statements. 

 

The restatement was calculated at the first application of IFRS using the developments in 

the consumer price index (“CPI”) published by the National Statistics Institute (“NIS”). 
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2.5 Tangible assets 

 

Land and buildings include factories, offices and commercial spaces.  

The remaining tangible assets are mainly technological equipment used in the production 

process.  

 

All classes of fixed assets are presented as at 31 December 2016 at fair value, determined by 

independent evaluators. 

For buildings and equipment, we used the revalued amount as at 31 December 2015 minus 

the depreciation losses for 2016. The revaluated value as at 31 December 2015 is used for 

land. 

 

As at 31 December 2016 no revaluation of assets were performed due to the fact that a 

market analysis carried out by a licensed assessor concluded that no revaluation is 

necessary after only 12 months from the previous one. 

  

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the fair value of a 

revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. Any accumulated 

depreciation at the date of revaluation is restated pro rata with the change in the gross 

carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the assets, subsequent to 

revaluation, equals its revalued amount. 
 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that 

future economic benefits related to that item will belong to the Company, and its cost can 

be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of the replaced item is derecognized.  All other 

repairs and maintenance expenses are recorded in the income statement in the financial 

period in which they are incurred. 

 

The depreciation method used is the straight-line method. 

Useful life of fixed assets is determined in accordance with the “Catalogue on classification 

and useful life of fixed assets”, approved by Government Decision 2139 / 30 November 

2004 updated. Given that this catalogue provides a choice of the normal functioning from a 

range with a minimum and a maximum value, the technical committee reviewed the 

conditions and environment in which the fixed assets operate and decided to use a life time 

equal to the middle range. 

 

Land is not depreciated.  Depreciation of other assets is calculated using the straight-line 

method to allocate their cost or revalued amount to the residual value, over the estimated 

useful lives, as follows: 

 

Building 25-40 years 

Machinery 10-15 years 

Vehicles 3-5 years 

Furniture, facilities and equipment 3-8 years 
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Residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at the 

end of each reporting period. 
 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
 

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with 

the carrying amount and are recognized in “Other (losses) / gains – net” in the income 

statement. 
 

On the sale of revalued assets, the amounts included in other reserves are transferred to 

retained earnings.   
 

2.6 Intangible assets 

 

(a) Trademarks and Licenses 

 

Trademarks and licenses acquired separately are recorded at historical cost. 

Trademarks and licenses have a limited useful life and are carried at cost minus the 

accumulated depreciation.   

 

The depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of 

trademarks and licenses over their estimated useful life of 1-3 years. 

 

 

2.7 Investment properties 

 

Investment properties are real estate (land, buildings or parts of buildings) held by the 

Company in order to increase the value or rental or both, rather than for: 

- be used in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; 

and 

- be sold in the ordinary course of business. 

 

An investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The cost 

of a purchased investment property consists of its purchase price plus any directly 

attributable expenditure (professional fees for legal services, the property transfer taxes 

and other transaction costs). 

 

The Company’s accounting policy on further evaluation of real estate investments is based 

on the fair value model. This policy is applied uniformly to all investment property held. 

Measuring the fair value of investment properties is performed by evaluators members of 

the National Association of Assessors of Romania (ANEVAR). 

The depreciation expense is no longer recognized, and the investment property is subject to 

revaluation with sufficient regularity in recognizing at fair value. Gains or losses resulting 
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from the change in fair value of investment property are recognized in profit or loss in the 

period in which they occur. 

 

On 31 December 2015, an authorized evaluator conducted revaluations of investment 

properties. 

 

On 31 December 2016, revaluations of investment properties were conducted as a market 

analysis carried out by an authorized evaluator concluded no revaluation is necessary after 

only 12 months from the previous one. 

 

2.8 Investments in shareholders’ equity elements   

 

Investments in equity items include participating interests in CARBOREF SA Cluj-Napoca, 

in 25% of the share capital, and a contribution to the initial assets of the association 

A.P.I.E.L. Romania, which represents a participation of 7.14%. The percentages held do not 

give us control or any significant influence on the Company’s activity or association. 

Carboref SA is a Company listed on BSE, so the investment is valued at cost. The Company 

did not recognize adjustments for their impairment. 

 

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets  
 
 

Assets that are subject to amortization are assessed for impairment whenever events or 

changes occur indicating that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment 

loss is recognized as the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable 

amount of the asset.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value minus 

the costs to sell and the value in use.   
 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 

are identifiable independent cash flows (cash generating units).  Non-financial assets other 

than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 

impairment at each reporting date. 

 

2.10 Financial assets 

 

2.10.1. Classification 

 

 

(a) Loans and receivables 

 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  They are included 

in current assets, except for maturities payable than twelve months after the end of 

the reporting period.  They are classified as current assets.   
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(b) Financial assets available for sale 

 

Financial assets available for sale are non-derivatives that are either designated in 

this category or not classified in the first category presented.  They are included in 

current assets unless the investment matures or the management intends to 

dispose of within twelve months after the end of the reporting period. 

 

(c) Greenhouse gas emission certificate 

 

Starting 01 January 2013, the plant belonging to the Company is no longer subject 
to the greenhouse gas emissions trading scheme pursuant to Directive 2013 / EC, 
therefore in 2013 did not receive EUAs. 

In 2014, the Company has alienated all 2,196 allowances found in the account at 
the beginning of the year, otherwise risked losing them. 

 

2.10.2. Recognition and measurement 

 

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date - the date on 

which the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

 

Investments are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets 

not carried at fair value through profit or loss.  The financial assets available for sale are 

subsequently carried at fair value.  Loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost based on 

the effective interest method. 

Investments in equity that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose 

fair value cannot be measured reliably must not be designated at fair value through profit or 

loss. 

 

2.11 Inventories 

 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  The cost of finished 

products is determined by the standard cost method. 

Cost of production of finished goods and work in progress comprises the design costs, raw 

materials, direct productive labor force, other direct costs and appropriate indirect 

production costs (based on normal production capacity).  Loan costs are not included. 

 

Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 

business, minus applicable variable selling expenses. 

 

Where necessary, are recorded provisions for obsolete inventories and slow turning. 

Obsolete inventories identified individually are provisioned at integrated value or 
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derecognized. For slow moving stocks, estimation of the age is performed by each major 

category, based on stock rotation.  

 

2.12 Trade receivables 

 

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for stocks sold or services provided in 

the normal course of business.  If they are expected to be collected within one year or less 

than one year (or later in the normal course of business), they will be classified as current 

assets.  Otherwise, they will be presented as current assets. 

 

Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently for claims with a 

credit period of more than six months, the assessment is made at amortized cost using the 

effective interest method less provision for impairment. 

 

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash in current accounts with banks, other 

short-term investments with high liquidity and original maturity periods of up to three 

months and overdrafts from banks.   

 

 

2.14 Share capital 

 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.   

 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are 

shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

 

2.15 Trade payables 

 

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that were acquired in the 

ordinary course of business from suppliers.  Accounts suppliers are classified as current 

liabilities if payment is to be made within a year or less than one year (or later in the 

normal course of business).  Otherwise, it will be presented as current liabilities. are 

recognized commercial lung. Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and 

subsequently liabilities with a maturity of less than 6 months are measured at amortized 

cost based on the effective interest method.  

 

 

2.16 Loans 

 

Loans are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs recorded.  Subsequently, 

loans are stated at amortized cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 
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costs) and the redemption value being recognized in the income statement over the period 

of loans, based on the effective interest method.   

 

2.17 Current and deferred tax 

 

Tax expense for the period includes current tax and deferred tax.  Tax is recognized in the 

income statement unless it relates to the items recognized in other comprehensive income 

or directly in equity.  In this case, the corresponding tax is recognized in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
 

Current income tax expense is calculated based on tax regulations in force at the end of the 

reporting period.  The Management evaluates periodically the positions in tax returns 

regarding situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation.  This 

constitutes provisions, where applicable, based on estimated amounts due to tax 

authorities. 

 

Deferred income tax is recognized, based on the liability method, on temporary differences 

occurring between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 

financial statements.  

 

However, the deferred tax arising from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 

transaction other than a business combination and at the time of transaction affects neither 

the accounting profit nor taxable profit is not recognized. Deferred income tax is determined 

using tax rates (and laws) in force until the end of the reporting period and to be applied in 

the period in which the deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax 

liability is settled. 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent in which it is probable to obtain in the 

future taxable profit from which temporary differences will be deducted. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax liabilities current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities 

relate to the income taxes imposed by the same tax authority or the same taxable entity, or 

different taxable entities where there is an intention to offset balances on a net basis. 

 

2.18 Employee Benefits 

 

In the normal course of business, the Company makes payments to the Romanian State on 

behalf of its employees for health, pension and unemployment funds. All employees of the 

Company are members of the Romanian State pension scheme, which is a fixed 

contribution plan. These costs are recognized in the income statement together with the 

salary expenses. 
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(a) Obligations relating to pensions 
 

According to the collective bargaining agreement, the Company must pay to the 

employees upon the retirement a compensatory amount equal to the gross salary.   

The Company recorded a provision for such payments (see Note 5). 
 

(b) Other benefits 
 

The Company pays the personnel costs for providing benefits such as medical 

services.  These amounts primarily include implicit costs of annual medical checks.  
 

(c) Termination of employment benefits 
 

According to the collective bargaining agreement, in the case of collective 

redundancies, the Company will provide compensation as follows, depending on 

the seniority of such employees: 

- For a seniority up to 10 years, 3 basic salaries of the redundant; 

- For a seniority between 10 years and 15 years, 5 basic salaries of the 

redundant; 

- For a seniority between 15 and 20 years, 7 basic salaries of the redundant; 

- For a seniority between 20 years and 25 years, 9 basic salaries of the 

redundant; 

- For a working experience of 25 years, 12 basic salaries of the redundant; 
 

(d) Profit-sharing scheme and bonuses 
 

The Company awards to employees, in addition to wages, additional bonuses result 

from the salary, bonuses of payroll, vouchers and holiday bonuses. 

Employees can benefit from employee participation in profits fund, up to 10% 

share of the net profit as decided by the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
 
 

2.19 Provisions 

 

Provisions for liabilities are recognized when the Company has a present, legal or 

constructive obligation, as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources 

will be required in settlement of the liability; the amount has been reliably estimated.  

 

If there are several similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required to 

settle the obligation is determined taking into account the whole class of obligations.  A 

provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow for an individual element is 

reduced. 
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Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to 

settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision 

due to passage of time is recognized in interest expense. 

 

2.20 Revenue recognition 

 

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable from the sale 

of goods and services in the normal course of business of the Company.  Revenue is shown 

net of value added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the 

Company.   

 

The Company recognizes revenue when their value can be estimated reliably, it is probable 

that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been 

met for each of the activities of the Company, as shown below.  The Company bases its 

estimates on historical results, taking into account the type of customer, the type of 

transaction and the specifics of each engagement. 

 

(a) Sale of finished products 

 

The Company produces the full range of grinding wheels products, except super 

grinding wheels.  

 

The main outlet market is the internal one, only max. 3% of deliveries being made 

in the foreign market. 

 

The Company sells finished products through distributors, direct sales to business 

customers and through retail through its store.  

 

Sales of finished goods are recognized when the Company has delivered products to 

customers. 

 

The Company manages a store for the sale of grinding wheel products. Sales of 

products is recognized when the Company sells a product to a customer.  Retail 

sales are usually paid in cash or bank card. The finished products are often sold 

with volume discount. Sales are recorded based on the price specified in the sales 

and purchase agreement, net of estimated volume discounts and estimated returns 

at the time of sale.  The experience gained is used for the estimation and 

provisioning for discount and returns Volume discount is estimated based on 

anticipated annual purchases.  It is considered that there are no funding elements, 

as sales are made with a credit period of 60 days in accordance with the normal 

market practice.   

 



CARBOCHIM S.A. 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

(all amounts are expressed in RON unless otherwise stated) 

27 of 59 

 

 

(b) Income from royalties 

 

Income from royalties is recognized on an accrual basis, according to the relevant 

contractual provisions. 

The Company has leased real estate investments in order to obtain income.  

 

2.21 Interest income 

 

 Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method. 

 

2.22 Dividend income 

 

 Dividend income is recognized when determining the entitlement to receive those 

amounts.  

 

2.23 Lease contracts 

 

Leases for tangible assets where the Company undertakes all the risks and benefits of 

ownership are classified as finance leases.  Finance leases are capitalized at the inception of 

the lease at the lesser of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the 

minimum lease payments. 
 

Each lease payment is allocated between liabilities and finance charges.  Obligations related 

to rent, net of finance charges are included in other long-term liabilities.  The interest 

element of the finance cost is recorded in the income statement over the lease term so as to 

produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the obligation for 

each period.  Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated 

over the useful life of the asset. 

 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and benefits of ownership is held by the 

lessor are classified as operating leases.  Payments made under operating leases are 

recognized as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of 

the lease. 

 

2.24 Dividend appropriation 

The distribution of dividends to shareholders is recognized as a liability in the financial 

statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company 

shareholders.   

 

3.     FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

3.1 Financial risk factors 
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By the nature of the activities performed, the Company is exposed to various risks 

including: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk on fair value, interest rate 

risk on cash flow and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk 

management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 

minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company. The 

Company does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. 

 

(a) Market risk 

 

(i) Foreign exchange risk 

The Company is exposed to currency risk through exposure to different currencies, 

especially the USD and EUR.  Currency risk is associated to assets and liabilities 

recognized, in particular loans. 

 

The Company does not undertake formal action to minimize currency risk related to its 

operations; therefore, the Company does not apply hedge accounting against risk.  

 

The following table shows the Company’s exposure to possible changes in exchange 

rates applied at the end of the reporting period: 

 

    As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2016 

 

 

Monetary  

  financial   

assets 

 
 

Monetary 
financial  

 liabilities 

  Net amount 

on the 

financial 

position  

  statement 

 

Monetary  

 financial 

   assets 

 
 

Monetary 
financial  
liabilities 

Net amount on 

the financial 

position  

 statement 

      

       

RON 8,784,224 3,891,788 4,892,436 7,292,042 5,892,937 1,399,105 

EUR 123,451 4,248,042 (4,124,591) 202,168 1,216,432 (1,014,264) 

USD 2,737 0 2,737 3,282 0 3,282 

Total 8,910,412 8,139,830 770,582 7,497,492 7,109,369 388,123 

 

The above analysis includes only monetary assets and liabilities items. 
The following table shows the manner in which the items in the income and equity ranges based on 
a 10% change in exchange rates applied by NBR at the balance sheet in relation to the functional 
currency of the Company, with all other variables constant, as follows: 

 

    2016    2015 

   

EUR 4.9953 4.9770 

USD 4.7337 4.5625 
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Impact on profit or loss account:  

          2016 

EUR increased by 10% (101,426) 

  

          2015 

EUR increased by 10% (412,459) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk 
 
 

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through its long and short term loans, most of which 

have variable rates, related to ROBOR index for RON loans, EURIBOR or EURLIBOR for loans in 

EUR. 

 

The Company has entered into interest-bearing loan agreements with Unicredit Bank, Banca 

Comerciala Romana and Raiffeisen Bank. 

 

 The status of the loans undertaken was the following: 
 
 
 

- As at 31 December 2015 

 

Financial institution Currency 
Interest 

rate 
    Threshold 

The loan balance as at 31 
December 2015 (RON) 

Unicredit Tiriac Bank EUR/ Negotiated  2.557  

 RON Negotiated 200,000 0 

Unicredit Tiriac Bank EUR Negotiated  498,853 

 RON Negotiated 600,000 0 

Piraeus Bank Romania RON Negotiated 1,600,000 0 

     

Piraeus Bank Romania EUR Negotiated 370,000 1,653,270 

Raiffeisen Bank RON Negotiated 1,000,000 0 

 

- As at 31 December 2016 

 

Financial institution Currency Interest rate 
      

Threshold 
Loan balance as at 31 
December 2016 (RON) 

Unicredit Bank RON Negotiated 800,000 584,283 

Banca Comerciala Romana RON/ Negotiated 2,000,000 804,501 

 EUR    

Raiffeisen Bank RON/ Negotiated 3,740,000 1,210,357 

 EUR    
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As at 31 December 2016, a possible increase in the interest rate of 1% would have an effect on the 

income statement of RON 366.  

 

 

(b) Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is mainly related to cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables. The Company has 

developed a number of policies whose application ensures that the sales of products and services 

takes place to adequate customers. The carrying amount of receivables, net of provisions for 

doubtful debts, represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. 

 

The credit risk of trade receivables that are not impaired, but not outstanding, can be assessed 

through internal analysis since there is no information about external risk indicators for customers. 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

Clients for which the recovery of claims is 

under 30 days 

 

2,343,509 

 

2,855,133 

   

Clients for which the recovery of claims is 

between 30 and 90 days 

 

2,845,810 

 

2,525,171 

   

Clients for which the recovery of claims is 

between 90 and 180 days 

 

68,302 

 

438 

Total 5,257,621    5,380,742    

 

 

Although the collection of receivables could be influenced by economic factors, management 

believes that there is not a significant risk of loss exceeding the provisions already created. 

 

Cash is placed with financial institutions which, at the time of creation, were considered to present 

a minimal risk of default. 

 
Bank's 
financial 
indicators 

Bank 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

Ba1 Raiffeisen Bank              62,273              4,671 

Baa3 BRD 1,523,550 2,900 

n/a Treasury                19,240                3,614 

Ba1 BCR             116,613             107,294 

n/a Unicredit Tiriac Bank           26,760 0 

n/a Piraeus Bank Romania 78,588 943 

n/a Banca Comerciala Feroviara 11,932 0 

n/a CEC Bank  0 416,458 

Total  1.838,956 535,880 



CARBOCHIM S.A. 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

(all amounts are expressed in RON unless otherwise stated) 

31 of 59 

 

Where: 

 

Financial institutions quoted with indicator D shows a modest financial power, with a 

possible need for external support and the financial institutions listed with indicator E shows 

a very modest financial strength with a high probability of external support needed 

periodically. 

 

 

(c) Liquidity risk 

 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the 

availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. 

 

Forecasts of cash flows are made by the Company’s finance department, which 

monitors forecasts of the Company’s liquidity needs to ensure that there is 

sufficient cash to meet the operational requirements, while always maintaining a 

sufficient margin in undrawn committed lending facilities, so the Company does 

not violate the limits of loans or arrangements relating to loans for all credit 

facilities.   

 

 

The maturity of financial liabilities is analyzed in the table below: 

 

 

Up to Between Between Over 

          1 year 

1 and 2 

years 

2 and 5 

years  5 years 

     

 

As at 31 December 2015     

Loans (Note 14) 2,154,680 - - - 

Financial lease (Note 15) 774,928 412,758 - - 

Trade payables and of other nature (Note 16) 4,797,464              -               -                - 

Current income tax -    

Total 7,727,072 412,758               -                - 

 

As at 31 December 2016     

Loans (Note 14) 2,599,141 - - - 

Financial lease (Note 15) 313,733 206,926 - - 

Trade payables and of other nature (Note 16) 3,870,455              -               -                - 

Current income tax 119,114    

Total 6,902,443   206,926               -                - 
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3.2 Capital Management 
 
 
 

Company’s capital management objectives aim at protecting the ability of the Company to 

continue its work in the future, so as to bring profit to shareholders and benefits to other 

stakeholders and maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
 
 

Like other companies operating in this sector, the Company monitors the capital on the 

basis of indebtedness indicator.  This indicator is calculated by dividing the net debt to the 

total capital.  Net debt is calculated by subtracting from the total loans (including 

“current and long-term loans”, as shown in the statement of financial position) cash 

and cash equivalents.  Total capital is calculated by adding the “equity” in the statement of 

financial position net debt. 
 

 

In 2016 the Company’s strategy, unchanged from 2015, was to maintain the indebtedness 

coefficient as low as possible to maintain the significant ability to borrow funds for future 

investment if and when necessary.   

 

Indicators of indebtedness as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 were the following: 
 

            2015            2016 

   

Total loans 3,342,366 3,119,800 

Less: cash and cash equivalents 1,867,879 576,164 

Total liability 1,474,487 2,543,636 

   

Total equity 66,006,956 65,136,379 

   

Total equity and liabilities 67.481.443 67.680.015 

Indebtness ratio 2% 4% 
 
 

3.3 Fair value measurement 
 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market 

prices at the end of the reporting period. The fair value of financial instruments that are not 

traded in an active market is determined by using the valuation techniques. 
 

It is considered that the carrying value minus the provision for impairment of trade 

receivables and payables approximates their fair values.  The fair value of financial 

liabilities with a settlement period of more than 6 months is estimated by discounting the 

future contractual cash flows at the current interest rate on the market available to the 

Company for similar financial instruments. 
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Fair value measurement is performed taking into account the following hierarchy: 

 

a) level 1 - prices listed in active markets for identical assets and liabilities 

b) level 2 - data other than listed prices that are observable for the asset or liability 

c) level 3 - data for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data 

 

Presentation at the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 

31 December 2016:  

  

      Level 1  Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets: 

 

Cash and cash equivalent                 576,164           -                      - 

Receivables and other receivables  -            6,921,327                      - 

 

Financial liabilities: 

Loans                            -  3,119,800                       - 

Trade payables and other nature  -                   3,870,455             - 

Current income tax                  -               119,114                               -  

Presentation at the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 

31 December 2015:  

  

      Level 1  Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets: 

 

Cash and cash equivalent                 1,867,879          -                      - 

Receivables and other receivables  -  7,042,533                  - 

 

Financial liabilities: 

Loans                            -  3,342,366                       - 

Trade payables and other nature   -                   4,797,464              - 

Current income tax                   -                0                                -  

 

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 

other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

given circumstances. 

 

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

 

The Company develops estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting 

accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual results.  Estimates and 

assumptions for which there is a considerable risk to cause significant adjustments to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
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(a) Income tax 

 

The Company is subject to income tax in one jurisdiction (Romania).  There are 

many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is 

uncertain.  The Company recognizes liabilities to financial audit based on estimates 

predict whether additional taxes will be due.  Where the final tax outcome of these 

matters is different from the amounts initially recorded, such differences will 

impact the assets and liabilities of current and deferred income tax in the period in 

which this determination is performed. 

 

(b) Pension-related benefits 

 

The present value of pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are 

determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions.  The assumptions 

used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate.  

Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension 

obligations. The Company uses the NBR benchmark interest rate as the discount 

rate for pension obligation at the end of each year.  

 

5. APPLICATION FOR THE FIRST TIME OF IFRS  

 

 

As at 31 December 2012, the Company prepared the first financial statements under IFRS. 

In preparing the statement of financial position according to IFRS on 1 January 2011 and 31 

December 2011, the Company adjusted amounts reported previously in financial statements 

prepared in accordance with the Order of the Ministry of Public Finance 3055/2009.  

The main restatement adjustments under IFRS of financial statements in accordance with the 

Order of the Ministry of Public Finance 3055 were as follows: 

 

a) Tangible assets 

 

The Company has not calculated in previous periods depreciation expenses of tangible 

conservation. When adopting IFRS, tangible assets kept in storage still pays off for as long 

as they have not been used. 

 

In order to present them at the fair value, the Company land have undergone revaluation. 

This revaluation was conducted at the end of 2010 and at the end of 2011 and 2012. 

 

The remaining categories of tangible assets did not record significant fluctuations in fair 

value until the end of 2012, their results are properly reflected in the financial statements. 

 

b) Investment property 
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On adoption of IFRS, the Company applies the fair value method of presentation of 

buildings listed in this category. As such, the depreciation expense is no longer recognized, 

and investment property is subject to a reassessment at the end of each financial year for 

the recognition at fair value. The revaluation result is recognized in the income statement. 

 

c) Provisions for leaves not taken 

 
The Company estimates for the days of leaves not taken and for the year ended, a provision 

for the registration of the salary expenditure in the corresponding period. 

 

d) Provision for pensions 

 

According to the Collective Bargaining Agreement, each employee receives compensation 

equal to a salary upon retirement. In recognition of this expenditure, the Company 

recorded a provision for the entire period in which the employee works in the Company. 

The value of this provision is up to date using the reference rate of interest according to 

NBR. 

 

 

e) Recognition of an asset or deferred tax liabilities (IAS 12) 

 

When adopting the IFRS, the Company calculates and records the deferred tax impact, 

determined based on temporary differences between accounting and tax basis of balance 

sheet items.  

 

 

6. TANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

Movements of tangible assets are as follows: 

 

 

Land and 

         

buildings 

Equipment  

      and 

vehicles 

Furniture, 

facilities and 

equipment 

Intangible 

assets in  

     progress            Total 

      
As at 1 January 
2015 

     

Cost or valuation 46,204,453 21,839,067 194,037 851,511 69,089,068 
Accumulated 
amortization (10,046,691) (18,720,775) (135,886)             - (28,903,352) 

Net book value 36,157,762     3,118,292     58,151 851,511 40,185,716 
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Financial period ended on 31 December 2015 

 
Land and 

         

buildings 

Equipment 

      and vehicles 

Furniture, 

facilities and 

equipment 

Intangible 

assets in  

       

progress    Total 

Initial net  

book value 36,157,762 3,118,292 58,151 851,511 40,185,716 

Inflows - 2,347,498 2,749 1,246,828 3,597,075 

Transfers 62,903 719,070 40,512 (822,485) - 

Revaluation gain 8,729,850   2,351,511 - - 11,081,361 

Loss from revaluation - - - - - 

Outflow, net (21,807) (257,041)  - (764,083) (1,042,931) 

Transfer to investment 

properties - -    -    

 

-    - 

Expense  

on amortization (431,045) (766,682) (18,193) - (1,215,920) 

Depreciation of fixed 

assets in conservation (92,388)              -                 -             -   (92.388) 

Final net  

book value 44,405,275 7,512,648  83,219 511,771 52,512,913 

      

      

As at 31 December 

2015 

Land and 

         

buildings 

Equipment  

      and vehicles 

Furniture, 

facilities and 

equipment 

Intangible 

assets in  

      

progress    Total 

Cost or valuation 55,086,346 29,834,418 237,298 511,771 85,669,833 
Accumulated 
amortization (10,681,071) (22,321,770) (154,079)             - (33,156,920) 

Net book value  44,405,275     7,512,648     83,219 511,771 52,512,913 
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6. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

 

Year ended on 31 December 2016    

 

Land and 

         

buildings 

Equipment 

 and vehicles 

Furniture, 

facilities and 

equipment 

Intangible 

assets in  

      

progress 

and 

advance 

payments    Total 

Initial net   

   book value 44,405,275 7,512,648 83,219 511,771 52,512,913 

Inflows - 174,970 - 729,024 903,994 

Transfers 280,045 550,562 18,460 (849,067) - 

Revaluation gain - - - - - 

Loss from revaluation - - - - - 

Outflows, net - (136,293) (4,549) (67,352) (208,194) 

Transfer to investment 

properties - -    -    

 

-    - 

Expense on 

amortization (764,156) (1,387,256) (12,349) - (2,163,761) 

Amortization of 

preserved fixed assets     (80,092)              -                 -             -   (80,092) 

Final net book value 43,841,072 6,714,631  84,781 324,376 50,964,860 

      

As at 31 December 

2016 

Land and 

        

buildings 

Equipment 

      and vehicles 

Furniture, 

facilities and 

equipment 

Intangible 

assets in  

    progress 

and 

advance 

payments    Total 

Cost or valuation 55,366,391 30,423,657 251,209 324,376 86,365,633 
Accumulated 
amortization (11,525,319) (23,709,026) (166,428)             - (35,400,773) 

Net book value  43,841,072     6,714,631     84,781 324,376 50,964,860 

 

Fair value of tangible assets 

 

An independent assessment of land, buildings and other categories of tangible assets was made by 

an independent appraiser to determine the fair value of tangible assets as at 31 December 2015. The 

net revaluation surplus was recorded in other comprehensive income and is disclosed in "other 

reserves" in equity. 
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On 31 December 2016, the appropriateness of performing a carried out by an independent 

appraiser concluded that no revaluation as at 31 December 2016 is necessary after only 12 months 

from the previous one. 

 

Disclosing the fair value of tangible assets as at 31 December 2016: 

 

      Level 1   Level 2 Level 3 

    

Land        -     30,848,407        - 

Buildings and special constructions   -       12,992,665  - 

Total land and buildings    -    43,841,072  - 

Equipment and vehicles    -                  6,714,631                 - 

Furniture, fixtures and fittings   -                        84,782  - 

 

Fair presentation of tangible assets as at 31 December 2015: 

 

       Level 1   Level 2 Level 3

     

Land        -     30,848,407        - 

Buildings and special constructions   -       13,556,868  - 

Total land and buildings    -    44,405,275  - 

Equipment and vehicles    -                  7,512,647                 - 

Furniture, fixtures and fittings   -                       83,219  - 

 

Vehicles and machinery include the following amounts for which the Company is the lessee under 

finance leases: 

 2015 2016 

Cost 2,516,083 2,551,279 

Accumulated amortization 165,374 411,441 

Net book value 2,350,709 2,139,838 

 

For loans undertaken, the Company recorded collaterals over the following tangible assets: 

  

Buildings 

 2015 2016 

Cost 13,112,062 16,134,809 

Accumulated amortization 2,983,508 4,856,270 
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Related land: 

 

 2015 2016 

Cost 15,068,967 8,818,960 

 
 

- On 31 December 2016, the following tangible assets (land and buildings) are pledged under loan 

agreements that the Company has concluded with financial institutions Unicredit Bank Cluj, Banca 

Comerciala Romana Cluj and Raiffeisen Bank Clui: 

 

No. 
 

Object of mortgage or pledge 
Value of mortgage or 

pledge 

Beneficiary of 
mortgage or 

pledge 
Mortga
ge level 

1.1 

 
Land with constructions located in 1 Mai 
Square, no. 3 registered with the Land Registry 
261371 of Cluj-Napoca City 

RON 800,000 + 
interests and related 
fees 

UNICREDIT 
BANK 
 

I 

1.2 

 
Land with constructions located in 1 Mai 
Square, no. 3 registered with the Land Registry 
309072 of Cluj-Napoca City 

 
RON 2,000,000 + 
interests and related 
fees  
 

BANCA 

COMERCIALA 

ROMANA  

 

I 

1.3 
Land with constructions located in 1 Mai 
Square, no. 3 registered with the Land Registry 
305138 and 305138-C1-U1 of Cluj-Napoca City 

RON 2,000,000 + 
interests and related 
fees 
 

RAIFFEISEN 
BANK 

I 

2.1 

Pledge on current and future available funds / 
credit balances on present and future accounts 
and sub-accounts opened with the bank under 
the Pledge Agreement, registered with the 
Electronic Archive for Security Interests 

 
 
RON 800,000 + 
interests and related 
fees 

UNICREDIT 
BANK 
 

 

   

2.2 

 
Pledge on current and future available funds / 
credit balances on present and future accounts 
and sub-accounts opened with the bank under 
the Pledge Agreement, registered with the 
Electronic Archive for Security Interests 

 
RON 2,000,000 + 
interests and related 
fees 
 
 

BANCA 

COMERCIALA 

ROMANA  

 

 

 

2.3   

 
Pledge on current and future available funds / 
credit balances on present and future accounts 
and sub-accounts opened with the bank under 
the Pledge Agreement, registered with the 
Electronic Archive for Security Interests 

RON 3,740,000  RAIFFEISEN 
BANK  

 

We hereby mention that the mortgage in favor of Unicredit Bank was erased from the Land 

Registry 261371 on 17 February 2017, the net book value of the buildings being RON 3,685,815 and 

of the adjacent land RON 2,873,673. 
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The credit line amounting to RON 800,000 will be guaranteed only by pledge on cash reserves and 

future / credit balances on present and future accounts and sub-accounts opened with the bank 

under the Pledge Agreement, registered with the Electronic Archive for Security Transactions. 

 

The book value which would have been recognized if the assets had been recorded under cost-based 

model are presented in the table below. This cost represents the supposed cost at the date of 

transition to the IFRS. 

Description 

Land and 

buildings 

Equipment 

and vehicles 

Furniture, 

facilities and 

equipment 

Intangible 

assets in  

progress 

and 

advance 

payments        Total  
      

Year ended on 

31 December 2015      

Cost 50,082,577    21,404,039    237,298    511,771    72,235,685    

Accumulated amortization 10,830,081    16,642,775    154,078                   0    27,626,934    

Net book value 39,252,496    4,761,264    83,220    511,771    44,608,751    
      

Year ended on 

31 December 2016      

Cost 50,362,621    21,993,278    251,210   324,377    72,931,486    

Accumulated amortization 11,674,329    18,030,031    166,427                   0    29,870,787    

Net book value 38,688,292    3,963,247    84,783    324,377    43,060,699    

 

 

6.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 Trademarks and licenses 

As at 01 January 2015     
 
Cost or valuation 

                                       

179,684 
Accumulated amortization (179,114) 

Net book value    570 

 

Financial period ended on 31 December 2015  

Initial net book value 570 

Inflows 37,835 

Amortization expense (9,124) 

Net final book value -  intangible assets 29,281 

As at 31 December 2015  
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As at 01 January 2016    
 
Cost or valuation 

                                       

217,519 
Accumulated amortization (188,238) 

Net book value    29,281 
 

Year ended on 31 December 2016 

Initial net book value 29,281 

Inflows 9.187 

Amortization expense (17,611) 

Net final book value -  intangible assets 20,857 

  

Intangible fixed assets in progress - initial 0 

Inflow 0 

Outflow 0 

Book value - intangible fixed assets in progress              0 

  
 

7. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

 

As at 01 January 2015 Building 

Cost or valuation 3,736,078 

Net book value 3,736,078 

 

Inflows 220,000 

Gain/ (loss) on valuation at fair value of investment properties 1,823,161 

Outflows              - 

Final net book value 5,779,239 

 

As at 31 December 2015 

Cost or valuation 5,779,239 

Net book value 5,779,239 

 

Year ended on 31 December 2016     Buildings + Land 

Inflows  1,046,342 

Gain/ (loss) on valuation at fair value of investment properties - 

Outflows                 220,000 

Final net book value 6,605,581 

 

As at 31 December 2016 

Cost or valuation 6,605,581 

Net book value 6,605,581 
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8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

Assets   
Receivables and other 
receivables 

        7,042,533        6,921,327 

Cash and cash 
 equivalents 

   1,867,879    576,164 

   

Total Assets 8,910,412 7,497,491 

   

Liabilities   

Loans  
                                                        

2,929,608 
                                                        

2,912,874 
Trade payables and  
  other kinds of liabilities 

                                                        
4,797,464 

                                                        
3,870,455 

Current income tax                 0                 119,114 

   

Total Liabilities 7,727,072 6,902,443 

 

Accounting classifications and fair values: 

 

31 December 2016  Note Amortized cost    Total book value  Fair value 

Financial assets (RON) 

Cash and cash  

equivalent                  12 576,164                      576,164                             576,164 

Receivables and   11           6,921,327                   6,921,327                        6,921,327 

other receivables                       

Total Financial Assets                          7,497,491                  7,497,491                  7,497,491                   

 

Financial debts (RON) 

Loans                                   14                   2,912,874                      2,912,874                        2,912,874 

Trade payables and  
 other kinds of liabilities  16                   3,870,455                     3,870,455                    

 
       3,870,455                    

Current income tax                                    119,114                           119,114                                                   119,114   

Total Financial Debts                     6,902,443                6,902,443                        6,902,443                  

 

9. INVENTORIES 
 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

   

Materials 3,816,107 3,944,650 

Inventory items 105,536 105,164 

Finished products 7,868,096 7,862,402 

Merchandise 382,313 342,348 
Provisions relating to 
 inventory impairment (212,945) (192,118) 
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Total inventories 11,959,107 12,062,446 
   

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

As at 1 January 61,266 212,945 
Provisioned during the 
year (Note 15) 160,796 0  

Reversed (9,117) (20,827) 

As at 31 December    212,945    192,118 
   

 
 
 

10. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

   

Receivables from clients 7,110,575 7,074,992 
Provisions relating to customer 
receivables impairment (226,602) (229,369) 

   
Trade receivables and other 
  receivables 6,883,973 6,845,623 

   

Prepaid expenses 101,433 43,279 

Other receivables 29,059 31,988 
Other fixed receivables (for a 
period exceeding 3 months) 988  438  
Provisions relating to  
other receivables impairment  0  0 

Current profit tax receivable     27,080            0  

Total 158,560 75,704 

   
Total Receivables after 
provisioning 7,042,533 6,921,327 

 

The fair value of receivables and other receivables equals the par value thereof. 

 

Trade receivables and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

   

RON                 6,923,455                 6,726,343 

EUR                        119,078                        194,984 

Other currencies (USD, GBP)                                 -                                    -    

   

Total receivables                  7,042,533                  6,921,327 

 
 

The analysis of receivables depending on the maturity is presented in the following table: 
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  31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

Within the period of maturity                    5,257,621                   5,380,742 
 
The due period exceeded, but 
without risk of impairment 

 

1,784,912 1,540,585 

Total  7,042,533 6,921,327 
 
 

 
 

 

 

A seniority analysis of outstanding receivables, but not provisioned is as follows: 

 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

Up to 3 months 1,691,630 1,396,898 
Between 3 and 6 
months                     78,209                     133,538 
Over 6 months                     15,073                     10,149 

   

Total 1,784,912 1,540,585 

 

 

Analysis of the provision movement for impairment of receivables: 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 
As at 1 January  235,641  226,602 

Receivables provisioned during the year   37,822  26,593 

Reversed provision (46,861) (23,826) 

As at 31 December  226,602  229,369 

   

 

 

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

Cash on hand and cash in the bank 366,727 62,432 

Performance guarantees under 3 
months 

-  -  

Collateral cash at the bank - letter 
of credit 

- - 

Other cash equivalents -  -  

Short-term deposits    1,501,152       513,732    

Total 1,867,879 576,164 
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 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

   

Cash on hand and cash in the 
bank in RON 

359,617 51,966 

Cash on hand and cash in the 
bank in USD 

2,737 3,282 

Cash on hand and cash in the 
bank in EUR 

4,373    7,184    

Short-term deposits in RON 1,501,152 513,732 

Short-term deposits in EUR              -                 -    

Total 1,867,879  576,164 
 

Bank 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

Raiffeisen Bank 62,273 4,671 

BRD 22,398 2.900  

Treasury 19,240 3,614 

BCR 116,613 10,021 

Unicredit Ţiriac Bank 26,760 0  

Piraeus Bank Romania 78,588 943 

Banca Comerciala Feroviara 11,932 0 
Cash on hand and other cash 
equivalents 

28,923  40,283 

Short-term deposits - BRD 1,501,152                  0  

Short-term deposits - BCR - manager 
securities 

0 97,274 

Short-term deposits - CEC BANK- 
dividends recorded 

0 416,440 

Short-term deposits - CEC BANK- 
sureties 

0 18 

  1,867,879  576,164 

  

The amount of RON 416,440 was registered with CEC BANK SA in the course of 2016, 

representing dividends due to shareholders: SCOP LINE SA (RON 213,645), BENJAMIN UNITED 

SRL (RON 342), ALFA LINE SA (RON 90,422) and MATTERA COM SA (RON 112,031). The 

amounts were recorded based on an ordinance issued on 25 September 2015 by the Directorate for 

Investigating Organized Crime and Terrorism in the file case no. 394 / D / P / 2007. 

 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

Cash and cash equivalent 1,867,879 567,164 
Total current portion of 
loans 

2,154,680 2,599,141 

 4,022,559     3,166,305     
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12.  SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

   

Share capital 12,325,438 12,325,438 

Share capital  
adjustments                  -                         -        

 

 

 Value 

Number 
of 

 Shares 
Share  

Value (RON) 

Percentage 
of 

 ownership 
(%) 

     

Ionescu Mircea-Pietro 3,095,990 1,238,396 2.5 25.1187 

Popoviciu Viorel-Dorin 1,607,925 643,170 2.5 130,456 

Popa Gheorghe Titus Dan 1,544,490 617,796 2.5 12.5309  

S.C. ELECTROARGEŞ S.A. 1,527,833 611,133 2.5 12.3958  

Individuals 2,875,540 1,150,216 2.5 23.3301  

Legal entities 1,673,660     669,464 2.5 135,789 

Total 12,325,438  4,930,175          100  

 

 

At the time of transition to IFRS, the Company calculated and recognized the hyperinflationary 

economy effect by applying IAS 29. 

 

The restatement was calculated using the evolution of the consumer price index ("CPI") published 

by the National Statistics Institute ("NIS"). The indices used, determined by relevant prices for 

December 1990 (1990 = 100) for those 13 years and the conversion factors were the following: 

 

Month / year 

Movements in 

the consumer 

price indices 

Index 
Conversion 

factor 

February 1991 7.0% 123 1,363 

March 1996 1.7% 8,291   20.19 

February 2001 2.3% 101,419   1.65 

August 2003 0.28% 157,446   1.06 

 

DIVIDENDS 
 
 
During 2016, the Company appropriated dividends to owners based on the Decision of the 
Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders no. 1 of 27 April 2016, totaling RON 1,972,070 of 
the net profit of 2015 (gross dividend of RON 0.40 / share). 
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13. LOANS 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

   

Loans at banks 2,154,680 2,599,141 

Loans from shareholders -    -    

   

Total loans 2,154,680 2,599,141 

   

Current portion of loans 2,154,680 2,599,141 

The long-term portion - 
loans at banks 

-    -    

 2,154,680 2,599,141 

   

The fair value of the loans at the end of each reporting period coincides with the book value thereof 

at the time. 
 
 

31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

   

RON 0  2,599,141 

EUR 2,154,680                  0  

   

 2,154,680 2,599,141 

 

The average annual effective rate of interest on loans for the 2016 financial year was 1.54% (for the 

2015 financial year was 0.83%). 

 

14. FINANCE LEASE 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

Up to one year 774,928 313,733 
Between 1 year and 5 
years 412,758 206,926 
Current value of finance 
lease 1,187,686 520,659 

   
 
   

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

Up to one year 800,873 325,159 
Between 1 year and 5 
years 422,723  211,906 
Future financial 
expenses  35,910  16,406 
Current value of finance 
lease  1,187,686  520,659 
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The average annual effective rate of interest for the finance lease for the 2016 financial year was 

2.44% (for the 2015 financial year was 5.34%). 

 

16 .   SUPPLIERS AND OTHER CREDITORS 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

   

Suppliers     1,732,904     1,847,745 
Liabilities related to the 
staff         624,336         594,462 

Interest to be paid             0           2,741 

Dividends payable 1,614,367      838,888 

VAT payable 326,512 193,773         
Other liabilities towards 
the State        399,647        302,641 

Deferred income                       33,760                         0    
Advanced payments 
from customers and 
sundry creditors            58,484            83,588 
 Inventory surpluses in 
the form of non-current 
assets         7,454         6,617 

   

Total 4,797,464 3,870,455 
 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

EUR                  905,675                  695,774 

USD - - 

RON  3,891,789   3,174,681  

 4,797,464  3,870,455  

 

 
 

17. ANALYSIS ON REVENUE CATEGORIES 

 
 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

Revenue from the sale of finished products 29,454,246 29,158,670 

Revenue from the sale of merchandise  796,717  654,499 

Revenue from services rendered         200,164         208,754 

Total 30,451,127  30,021,923 

 
Other operating revenue   

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

Gain/(loss) from the sale of fixed means  37,822  20,475 

Other income 45,992 1,161,911 

Revenue from tangible assets revaluation 217,668 0 
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Earnings from valuation at fair value of 
investment properties 

1,823,161 0 

Rental income 1,307,942 1,403,067 

Total  3,432,585 2,585,453 

 

In other operating income as at 31 December 2016 were recorded revenues amounting to RON 

1.155,160 representing dividends distributed in 2001, 2006, 2007, 2009, 2011 and 2012, unpaid 

until 31 December 2016 and for which the shareholders’ right to request their payment is 

prescribed. 

 

 

18. SALARIES AND OTHER RELATED COSTS 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

   

Expense on salaries 10,437,833 10,301,881 

   

Salary contributions costs 2,368,988 2,347,051 

   

Lunch tickets expenses 474,164 456,356 

   

Total 13,280,985 13,105,288 
 

 

 
31 December 2015 

 

 
31 December 2016 

 

Average number of employees 235  222  

   

Number of employees 245  222  

   
Administrative staff salary (executives, 
including related social contributions) 1,356,654 1,314,841 

   
Board of Directors (including related social 
contributions) 828,358 827,138 
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19. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

   

Other third party expenses 796,798                           744,724 

Royalties and rental expenses 147,054 148,638 

Expenditure relating to utilities                        1,935,783                        1,815,945 
Maintenance and repair 
expenses                           324,567                           350,897 

Expenditure on insurance                              102,303                              110,233  
Expenses with damages and 
penalties                               66                                138  
Other provisions 
expense / (reversal)                              -                               -  
Net provision for expense debts 
/ (reversal)                             (5,414)                             2,767 

Postage and other fees 46,784                              52,149 
Expenses relating to 
commissions and fees 38,811                              8,368 
Protocol, promotion and 
advertising expenses 156,597 145,824 
(Gain) / net loss from exchange 
rate differences from 
operational activities                             34,375                            (5,031) 
Net provision for slow-moving 
inventory or impaired expense / 
(reversal)                          151,679                          (20,827) 
Expenses related to banking and 
similar services 46,869 44,099 

Travel expenses 118,639                          205,868 

Other operating expenses                          465,237                          862,623 

Transport costs 189,936 147,192 

   

Total 4,550,084 4,613,609 

 
  
A fee amounting to EUR 8,000 was paid to the auditor in 2016 for auditing the financial the 
statements as at 31 December 2015 
 
The Company concluded an operating lease in March 2014, under which in 2016 it recorded rent 
expense amounting to RON 127,901. 
The subject matter of the lease agreement is a Land Rover vehicle, which is available to members of 
the Board of Directors. 
Payments to be made in the future throughout the duration of the agreement (January 2017 - 
February 2017) amount to EUR 4,687.64, equivalent to RON 21,287 at the exchange rate from 31 
December 2016 (4.5411). 
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20. FINANCIAL RESULT 

 

 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

   

Interest expense   

- loans                97,558                36,603 

- Finance lease                   33,200                   20,808 
Net result from foreign exchange rate 
differences 69,692         759  

   

Financial costs 200,450 58,170 

   

Interest income 17,466 1,621 

Other financial income 0   0   

   

Financial income        17,466        1,621 

   

Net financial result (182,984) (56,549) 

 

 

 

21. CORPORATE TAX 

 

 

Description 31 December 2015 31 December 2016 

   
Gross result 2,728,566                  967,965 
Tax rate according to national 
regulations 16% 16% 
Items similar to income 213,155              1,123,282 
Items similar to expenses (50,523) (36,181) 

Deductions (1,768,125) (2,812,071) 

Non-taxable income (2,137,976) (78,000) 
Non-deductible expenses 2,621,038 2,957,439 
Total 1,606,135             2,122,434 

Income tax expense (256,982) (339,589) 

Tax credit 50,671  67,917 

Total (206,311) (271,672) 

   

(Expense) / Income with deferred tax (361,748) 5,151 

(Expense) / income with corporate tax (568,059) (266,521) 
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21. CORPORATE TAX (CONTINUED) 
 

 
1 January 

2015 
Movement 

in deferred 
tax 

31 December 
2015 

Movement 
in 

deferred 
tax 

31 December 
2016 

      
Deferred tax assets 17,837 21,219 39,056 (26,241) 12,815 
Liabilities from 
deferred taxes (2,832,682) (2,116,049) (4,948,731) 164,919 (4,783,812) 
      
Asset/(Debt) from 
deferred tax - net (2,814,845) 2,094,830 (4,909,675) 138,678 (4,770,997) 
 
 

Liabilities from 
deferred taxes Tangible assets Provisions             Total 

    

As at 1 January 2015 (2,810,857) (21,825) (2,832,682) 

Movement in deferred tax 
                                    

(2,136,441) 20,392 
                                      

(2,116,049 

As at 31 December 2015 
(4,947,298) 

                                               
(1,433) (4,948,731) 

    

Deferred tax assets 
Tangible assets Provisions            Total 

    

As at 1 January 2015 17,837 0 17,837 

Movement in deferred tax 
(3,054) 

                                                 
24,273 

                                    
21,219 

As at 31 December 2015 
14,783 

                                                   
24,273 

                                      
39,056 

    
Asset/(Debt) from 
deferred tax - net (4,932,515) (22,840) (4,909,675) 
    

    

Liabilities from 
deferred taxes Tangible assets Provisions Total 
    

 As at 1 January 2016 
(4,947,298) 

                                               
(1,433) (4,948,731) 

 Movement in deferred 
tax 

                                    
173,253 

                                                   
(8,334) 

                                      
164,919 

 As at 31 December 2016 
                             

(4,774,045) 
                                               

(9,767) (4,783,812) 

21.     

 
   

Deferred tax assets 
Tangible assets Provisions Total 
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As at 1 January 2016 
                                    

14,783 24,273 39,056 

Movement in deferred tax 
                                    

(1,968) 
                                                 

(24,273) 
                                    

(26,241) 

As at 31 December 2016 
                                    

12,815 
                                                   

0  
                                      

12,815 
    
Asset/(Debt) from 
deferred tax - net 

                             
(4,761,230) 

                                               
(9,767) (4,770,997) 

 
 

22. RELATED PARTIES 

 

The list of related parties of the Company is as follows: 

 
Related company 
 

Explanations 

CARBOREF SRL 
Cluj-Napoca 

CARBOCHIM SA holds 25% of the social shares of CARBOREF SRL.  
Mr. Popoviciu Viorel was part of both the Board of Directors of 
CARBOCHIM SA (Board consisting of 5 members) and of CARBOREF SA 
(Board consisting of 3 members) until March 2015 when the company 
became CARBOREF SRL with one director (Mr. Ioan Mihut which hold 
70% of the social shares). 
The supplies represent the equivalent of rent and utilities under contract 
2249 / 13 December 2012. 
The acquisitions consist of purchases of products by CARBOREF with the 
purpose of selling them as various goods or materials. 
 

EURO CLUB SRL 
Timişoara 

Mr. Popa Dan – director of CARBOCHIM SA holds 50% of EUROCLUB 
SRL and is director of EUROCLUB SRL together with another person. 
Supplies consist of grinding products in order to sell them as authorized 
dealer (under contract no. 35001/2008 and addendum 20/2016). 
 

AUTO EUROPA SRL 
Timişoara 

Mr. Popa Dan – director of CARBOCHIM SA holds 50% of AUTOEUROPA 
SRL and is director together with another person. 
 

ELECTROARGES SA  
Curtea de Argeş 

ELECTROARGES SA holds 12.40% of the share capital of CARBOCHIM 
SA  

  
SERVICE  
AUTOMOBILE 2 SA, 
Cluj-Napoca 

Mr. Turcu Iacob Ovidiu – CEO of CARBOCHIM SA holds 41,88% of 
SERVICE AUTOMOBILE 2 SA and is the director’s representative of 
DACIA SERVICE CLUJ FELEAC  

  
DACIA SERVICE 
CLUJ FELEAC SA, 
Cluj-Napoca 

Mr. Turcu Iacob Ovidiu –director of CARBOCHIM SA starting 26 April 
2013, holds 95.66% of DACIA SERVICE FELEAC SA and is director with 
another two persons  

 

Analysis of the balances and transactions with related parties: 
 
Balances as at 1 January 
2015 Receivables Other receivables Liabilities 

CARBOREF SA 61,505 3,625 - 
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EURO CLUB SRL   217,148 - - 
FURBY SRL  -    - - 
AUTOEUROPA SRL -  - - 
ELECTROARGES SA - - - 
SERVICE AUTOMOBILE 2 SA - - - 
DACIA SERVICE FELEAC SA - - - 
Total 278,653    3,625 - 

 
Transactions 
conducted during 
2015: 

Sales Expenses Loans 

CARBOREF SA 16,566   249,937 -  
EURO CLUB SRL 999,408 - -  
AUTOEUROPA SRL -  14,820 -  

ELECTROARGES SA 46  - -  

SERVICE AUTOMOBILE 2 SA 859 9,253 - 
DACIA SERVICE FELEAC SA - 1,767 - 
Total 1,016,867   275,777 -  

 

Balances as at 31 December 2015 
Receivables 

Other 
receivables Liabilities 

CARBOREF SA 1,555 -  - 
EURO CLUB SRL   122,922 -    -  
AUTOEUROPA SRL -  -  -   
ELECTROARGES SA - - - 
SERVICE AUTOMOBILE 2 SA - - - 
DACIA SERVICE FELEAC SA - - - 
Total 124,477    -  -   
    
Transactions conducted during 
2016: 

Sales Expenses Loans 

CARBOREF SA 9,773   27 -  
EURO CLUB SRL 692,893 - -  
AUTOEUROPA SRL -  4,165 -  
ELECTROARGES SA 523  - -  

SERVICE AUTOMOBILE 2 SA 834 9,365 - 
DACIA SERVICE FELEAC SA 1,432 5,660 - 
Total 705,455   19,217 -  

 
Balances as at 31 December 
2016 Receivables 

Other 
receivables Liabilities 

CARBOREF SA 837 -  - 
EURO CLUB SRL   142,228 -    -  
AUTOEUROPA SRL -  -  -   
ELECTROARGES SA - - - 
SERVICE AUTOMOBILE 2 SA - - 957 

DACIA SERVICE FELEAC SA - - - 
Total 143,065    -  957   

 The amounts are expressed in RON and include VAT. 
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As at 31 December 2016, the Board of Directors of the Company has the following members: 

 

- Popoviciu Viorel Dorin, member of the Board of Directors and Chairman of the Board. He 

holds 643,170 shares. 

 

- Popa Gheorghe Titus Dan, member of the Board of Directors. He holds 617,796 shares. 
 

- Ionescu Mircea Pietro, member of the Board of Directors. He holds 1,238,396 shares. 

 

- Turcu Iacob Ovidiu, member of the Board of Directors. He holds 164 shares. 

 

- Crisan Viorel Vasile, member of the Board of Directors. He holds 7,609 shares. 

 

The executive management of the Company is: 

 

- Popoviciu Viorel Dorin, Chief Executive Officer 

- Barabula Mihaela Maria, Chief Financial Officer 

- Giurgiu Liana, Sales Manager 

- Carean Nastasia, Technical – Production Manager  

 

23. RESULT PER SHARE 

 

The Company's shares are listed on the second category of the Bucharest Stock Exchange. 

 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders 

of the Company by the average number of ordinary shares existing during the year. The 

diluted earnings per share coincide with basic earnings per share. 

 

24. CONTINGENCIES 

 

 

 

Year ended on 

31 December 2015 

Year ended on 

31 December 2016 

   

Profit attributable to equity holders of the  

Company 2,728,565 967,965 

      

Weighted average of number of shares 4,930,175  4,930,175  

     

Basic earnings and diluted earnings per share   

(RON per share) 0,55 0,20 
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Legal proceedings 

 

The Company is subject to a number of legal proceedings, the majority representing the insolvency 

proceedings of doubtful customers. The Company's management deems that these actions will not 

have a material adverse effect on the economic and financial position of the Company. 

 

Taxation 
 

The Romanian taxation system has undergone multiple changes over the past recent years and  

is under adaptation to the case-law of the European Union.  As a result, there are still different 

interpretations of the tax legislation.  In certain circumstances, the tax authorities may approach 

differently certain aspects by carrying out the calculation of taxes and additional fees and interest 

and penalties on late payments (in 2016 the late penalties are 0,01% per day of delay, plus late 

interest of 0,02% per day of delay).  In Romania, the financial year remains open for tax checking 

for 5 years. The Company’s management deems that the tax liabilities included in these financial 

statements are appropriate. 

 

 

Tax law existing at the time of drafting the financial statements for companies reporting under the 

International Financial Standards is in an early stage of development. It is therefore possible that 

the tax authorities have different interpretations from those included in these financial statements. 

As the Company maintains the method revaluation for tangible assets, and also to mitigate the 

related tax risk, the Company decided to keep on the account 105 "Revaluation reserves" at the date 

of transition to IFRS, the amounts existing in this account as at 31 December 2010 in the financial 

statements prepared according to Order of the Minister of Public Finance 3055/2009. 
 
 

The financial crisis 
 
The recent volatility of international and Romanian financial markets: 
 

The current global liquidity crisis which began in mid-2007 resulted in, among other things, a low 

level of capital market funding, lower liquidity levels in the financial sector and, occasionally, 

higher interbank lending rates and high volatility of stock exchanges. Moreover, the volatility of the 

RON exchange rate and the major currencies used in international trade was very high. Currently, 

the full impact of the current financial crisis is still difficult to anticipate or prevent completely. 

 

The management is unable to reliably estimate the effects on the Company’s financial position of a 

potential decrease in liquidity of financial markets, an increase in exchange rate volatility of the 

national currency and the continuing recession. The management believes that it has taken all the 

necessary measures to ensure the continuity of the Company under current conditions. 
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Revaluation of properties held at fair value 

 

The real estate market in Romania has been severely affected by the recent volatility in the financial 

markets that resulted in restricting access to credit for companies and individuals. Therefore, the 

carrying amount of tangible assets at fair value has been updated to reflect the market conditions at 

the balance sheet date. Due to the volatility of the real estate market in Romania, it is possible that 

the fair values of the Company’s assets relating to property be modified in the future. 

 

25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
 

The current report issued on 16 March 2017 for the agenda of the Ordinary General Meeting of 

Shareholders on 26 April 2017, convened to approve the 2016 financial statements, submits for 

approval: 

- the distribution of net profit of 2016, amounting to RON 967,964.83 as follows: the amount of 

RON 61,724.29 as legal reserves and the retained earnings (undistributed profit) amounting to 

RON 906,240.54. 



 
 

                                                                                        Page 1 of 1 

 

  

 STATEMENT 

 

 

 

We, the undersigned POPOVICIU VIOREL-DORIN acting in the capacity of Chief 

Executive Officer and BARABULA MIHAELA-MARIA acting in the capacity of Chief 

Financial Officer of CARBOCHIM S.A., hereby state:  

 

- The separate financial statements on 31 December 2016 have been prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union 

and with the Order of the Ministry of Public Finance 2844/2016 approving the Accounting 

Regulations in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards.  

 

- The accounting policies used in the preparation of financial statements are in accordance 

with the accounting regulations applied;  

  

- The separate financial statements prepared in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) present fairly the financial position, financial performance and 

other information related to the activity carried out;  

  

- The Company operates in terms of continuity  

  

- At the time of this statement, we have no knowledge about other information, events, 

circumstances that would significantly alter the above statements.  

  

 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER   CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

VIOREL POPOVICIU, Engineer   MIHAELA BARABULA, Economist 

     
   

  

 



 “INTEGRAL AUDIT” SRL 

Cluj-Napoca, 14-16 Cal. Dorobantilor Street, ap. 33 

Share Capital: RON 200, J12/741/25 March 2011, TIN 28244862 

Phone no. 0725 068012, fax no. 0264 599589, email: neliagoia@yahoo.com 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

 

To CARBOCHIM SA Shareholders 

 

Report on the Financial Statements Audit 

 

Opinion 

 

1 . We have audited the accompanying Financial Statements of CARBOCHIM SA (the "Company") which 

comprise the Statement of Revenue and Expenditure, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the 

Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Cash Flow Statement and Notes to 

the Financial Statements (including a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

notes), prepared as at 31 December 2016. The Financial Statements include: 

 

 Total Assets:                                     RON 77,189,235   

 Equity        RON 65,136,379  

 Debts                                                RON 12,052,856  

 Net profit for the year           RON 967,965   

 

 

  2. In our opinion, the accompanying Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2016, and its financial performance, and its cash 

flows for the year ended on that date, in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

  3. We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 

responsibilities under these standards are described in detail in the Auditor's Responsibilities section, in 

a Financial Statements audit in our report. We are independent of the Company, according to the 

requirements of professional ethics relevant to the Financial Statements audit from Romania and we 

fulfilled the other responsibilities of professional ethics according to these requirements. We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Issues 

 

4. The key audit issues are those issues that, in our professional reasoning, had the greatest importance to the 

Financial Statements audit of the current period. These issues were addressed in the context of the 

overall financial statement audit and forming our opinion on them and do not provide a separate opinion 

on these issues. 

 

5. Deferred Income Tax Related to Legal Reserve 

     The Company decided not to calculate and not to record deferred income tax amounting to RON 

189,610corresponding to legal reserves. Failure to register deferred tax for legal reserves does not affect 

the profit and loss account. Deferred tax for legal reserves should have been recorded directly in equity 

account. Equity would have been lower by RON 189,610, i.e. RON 64,946,769 instead of RON 

65,136,379. Moreover, long-term debt would also be higher by RON 189,610. This difference falls 



below the materiality threshold set by the auditor and we do not deem it necessary to change our 

opinion. 

 

Other Information  
 

6. Other information includes the Directors' Report but does not include the Financial Statements and the 

Auditor's Report thereon. Management is responsible for further information. 

 

 

7. Our opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover this other information and does not express any 

reassurance conclusion on them. 

 

8. In connection with the Financial Statements audit, our responsibility is to read this other information and, 

in doing so, to assess whether the other information is significant inconsistent with the Financial 

Statements or knowledge that we have obtained during the audit, or they seem to be materially 

misstated. Should we conclude, based on the work performed, that there is a material misstatement of 

the other information, we are required to report it. In this respect, we have nothing to report. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Persons Charged with Governance to the Financial Statements 
 

9. Company Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements 

in accordance with IFRSs and for such internal control as the Management considers necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

 

10. In preparing the Financial Statements, the Management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability 

to continue in operation, showing, if any, the aspects of business continuity and using the accounts on a 

going concern basis unless the Management either intends to liquidate the Company or close down 

operations, or has no realistic alternative beyond. 
 

11. Persons responsible with the governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of 

the Company. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities in an Financial Statements Audit 
 

12. Our goals are to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, as well as issuing an Auditor's Report which 

includes our opinion. The reasonable assurance has a high level of assurance, but there is no guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement, if any. 

Misstatements can be caused either by fraud or error, and are considered significant if it can be 

reasonably expected that they will influence, individually or in aggregate, the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements. 

 

13. As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional scepticism throughout the audit. Moreover: 

 We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Statements, due either to 

fraud or error, design and execute audit procedures in response to such risks, and obtain sufficient 

and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of failing to detect a 

significant misstatement due to fraud is higher than the one of failing to detect a material 

misstatement due to error because fraud may involve collusion, forgery, deliberate omissions, 

misrepresentations and avoiding internal control. 

 We acknowledge the internal control relevant to the audit, in order to design audit procedures 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of internal control of the Company. 

 We assess the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the Management. 

 We draw a conclusion on the appropriateness of the use by the Management of accounts on a going 

concern basis and determine, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists regarding events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Company to 



continue its operations. If we conclude that there is significant uncertainty, we must draw the 

attention in the Auditor's Report on the presentations related to the Financial Statements or, if these 

disclosures are inadequate, to alter our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained until the Auditor's Report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company 

may not carry on business in a going concern basis. 

 We assess the presentation, structure and general content of the Financial Statements, including 

disclosures, and whether the Financial Statements reflect transactions and events based in a manner 

that achieve fair presentation. 

 

14. We communicate, among other things, the planned scope and timing of the audit and the main audit 

findings to those responsible for governance, including any significant deficiencies in the internal 

control that we identified during the audit. 

 

15. We also provide those responsible for governance a statement that we complied with the ethical 

requirements relevant to the independence, and that we communicated all relationships and other 

matters which might be reasonably assumed to affect our independence, and, where appropriate, the 

related protective measures. 

 

16. We determine, among the matters communicated with those charged with the governance, which are the 

most important for the audit of the Financial Statements for the current period and which are therefore 

key audit issues. We describe these issues in the Auditor's Report, unless laws or regulations prohibit 

public disclosure of this matter or where, in extremely rare circumstances, we believe that they should 

not be communicated in our Report as it is reasonably predicted that public interest benefits would 

overcome the negative consequences of this communication. 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Provisions 

Reporting on Information other than Financial Statements and our Report thereon 

17. In addition to our reporting responsibilities under ISA and described in the "Other Information" on the 

Directors' Report, we have read the Directors’ report attached to the individual Financial Statements and 

disclosed from page 1 to 15 and report that: 

a) we did not identify information in the Directors' Report that is not consistent in all material respects 

with the disclosures in the accompanying individual Financial Statements; 

b) the Directors' Report identified above includes, in all material respects, the information required by 

Order of the Minister of Public Finance no. 2844/2016, sections 15-18 (Accounting Regulations in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) 

c) based on our knowledge and understanding acquired during the audit of the Financial Statements for 

the year ended on 31 December 2016 on the Company and its environment, we have not identified any 

information contained in the Directors' Report to be significantly flawed. 

 

For and on behalf of the Company INTEGRAL AUDIT SRL 

SIMION NELIA     INTEGRAL AUDIT SRL 

 

Financial Auditor registered with the Chamber   registered with the Chamber  

Financial Auditors of Romania under    Financial Auditors of Romania under 

number 3444/30 March 2010.    number 1052/2011 

Cluj-Napoca, 24 March 2017 


